
 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Packet 
Regular Board Meeting 

July 17, 2018 

 

 

 



POSTED July 13, 2018 

Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority  

Date:  July 17, 2018  

Location:     
GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT 
2828 WALKER FIELD DRIVE. 
GRAND JUNCTION, CO 81506 
AIRPORT TERMINAL - 3rd FLOOR CONFERENCE ROOM 
  
Time:  5:15 PM  
 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA   

Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance 

Approval of Agenda  

Commissioner Comments  

Citizens Comments  
The Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority welcomes respectful public comments at its 
meetings. The Citizens Comment section is open to all individuals that would like to comment. 
If you wish to speak under the Citizens Comment portion of the agenda, please fill out a 
comment card prior to the meeting. If you have a written statement for the Board, please have 
10 copies available and give them to the Executive Director who will distribute them to the 
Board. The Board Chairman will indicate when you may come forward and comment. Please 
state your name for the record. Presentations are limited to three minutes and yielding time to 
others is not permitted. Speakers are to address the Chairman, not each other or the audience, 
and are expected to conduct themselves in an appropriate manner. The use of abusive or 
profane language shall not be allowed. No debate or argument between speakers and/or 
members of the audience shall be permitted.  

Staff Reports  
A. Director’s report (Angela Padalecki)
B. Financial/Activity report (Angela Padalecki) ________________________________ 1 
C. Operations report (Mark Papko) 
D. Project report (Eric Trinklein) 
E. Contractor report (Scott Cary, Colin Bible, Adam Shuler)  

Consent Agenda  
The Consent Agenda is intended to allow the Board to spend its time on the more complex 
items on the agenda. These items are perceived as non-controversial and can be approved by a 
single motion. The public or Board Members may ask that an item be removed from the 
Consent Agenda and be considered individually. 



POSTED July 13, 2018 

A. June 19, 2018 Meeting Minutes _________________________________________ 2 
B. Banking Resolution ____________________________________________________ 3 
C. Employee Handbook Update ____________________________________________ 4 
D. Colorado Open Records Act Policy and Procedures __________________________ 5 
E. Executive Director outside Board membership  _____________________________ 6 
F. Sky Adventures sublease renewal ________________________________________ 7 
G. IT Service Contract Renewal – Sequent ____________________________________ 8 
H. Passenger Loading Bridge Ball Screw Replacement __________________________ 9 
I. Runway Rubber Removal, Airfield Painting, and Runway Friction Testing  _______ 10 
J. FAA Grant Offer Approval  _____________________________________________ 11 
K. FAA Grant Application Approval ________________________________________ 12 
L. Invoice Replacement Runway 12/30 Project Design – Mead & Hunt ____________ 13 

M. Invoice Terminal Renovation Design – Mead & Hunt ________________________ 14 
N. Invoice Taxiway Alpha Rehabilitation Design – Garver _______________________ 15 
O. Scope of Work Garver Taxiway A Construction Administration ________________ 16 
P. Scope of Work Garver East Terminal Apron Construction Administration ________ 17 

Action Items  
A. Recommendation of Award 27 ¼ Road Relocation __________________________ 18 
B. Recommendation of Award Remote Transmitter/Receiver Relocation __________ 19 
C. Scope of Work Mead and Hunt 2019 _____________________________________ 20 
D. Change Order East Terminal Apron ______________________________________ 21 
E. 2018/2019 Employee Health Benefits ____________________________________ 22 

Any other business which may come before the Board 

Adjournment  
 



GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT ACTIVITY REPORT

Report Date:
PY Comparison Date:

. May, 2018

PERCENT PERCENT
2017 2018 CHANGE 2017 2018 CHANGE

8,789           9,499       8.08% 41,099        40,081        -2.48%
1,141           1,010       -11.48% 5,933          5,674          -4.37%
6,776           6,204       -8.44% 27,228        24,277        -10.84%
3,989           3,909       -2.01% 17,243        16,219        -5.94%

641              660          2.96% 3,379          4,118          21.87%
296              148          -50.00% 439             294             -33.03%
-               -           N/A 80               -              -100.00%

Misc Charters -               -           98               115             17.35%
21,632      21,430  -0.93% 95,499     90,778     -4.94%

PASSENGER DEPLANEMENTS: 2017 2018 CHANGE 2017 2018 CHANGE

8,761           9,374       7.00% 40,470        40,562        0.23%
1,063           988          -7.06% 5,780          5,575          -3.55%
6,893           5,989       -13.11% 30,242        30,165        -0.25%
3,904           3,905       0.03% 17,241        17,846        3.51%

618              636          2.91% 3,021          4,076          34.92%
147              148          0.68% 293             294             0.34%
-               7              N/A 80               122             52.50%

21,386      21,047  -1.59% 97,226     98,640     1.45%
**2017 Deplanement data contains estimates**

43,018      42,477  -1.26% 192,725   189,418   -1.72%

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT ACTIVITY REPORT

May 31, 2018

PERCENT PERCENT
AIR FREIGHT ON (LBS): 2017 2018 CHANGE 2017 2018 CHANGE

American 626              1,624       159.42% 4,679          4,165          -10.99%
FedEx 231,777       248,033   7.01% 1,381,366   1,364,200   -1.24%
KEY LIME AIR 68,954         38,265     -44.51% 194,025      142,527      -26.54%
United -               1,493       N/A -              6,840          N/A
Delta -               377          N/A -              1,224          N/A

TOTAL FREIGHT ON 301,357       289,792   -3.84% 1,580,070   1,518,956   -3.87%

AIR FREIGHT OFF (LBS):

American 466              1,844       295.71% 2,824          4,118          45.82%
FedEx 467,937       363,658   -22.28% 2,439,329   1,836,539   -24.71%
KEY LIME AIR 28,470         73,050     156.59% 263,050      251,638      -4.34%
United -               517          N/A -              3,661          N/A
Delta -               590          N/A -              2,009          N/A

TOTAL FREIGHT OFF 496,873       439,659   -11.51% 2,705,203   2,097,965   -22.45%

TOTAL AIR FREIGHT 798,230       729,451   -8.62% 4,285,273   3,616,921   -15.60%

TOTAL DEPLANEMENTS

TOTAL PASSENGERS

UNITED 
DELTA 
DENVER AIR CONNECTION 
SWIFT AIR 
Misc Charters

5/31/2018
5/31/2017

AMERICAN 
ALLEGIANT

DENVER AIR CONNECTION 
SWIFT AIR 
SunCountry Charter

TOTAL ENPLANEMENTS

PASSENGER ENPLANEMENTS:
AMERICAN 
ALLEGIANT 
UNITED 
DELTA 

CURRENT MONTH YEAR-TO-DATE

CURRENT MONTH YEAR-TO-DATE

1



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority

Statements of Changes in Net Position
Unaudited - subject to change
 
 05/31/2018 05/31/2018 05/31/2017 05/31/2018 05/31/2018 05/31/2018 05/31/2018 05/31/2017 05/31/2018 05/31/2018

 Budget Actual actual Budget Diff Budget % Var Budget Actual actual Budget Diff Budget % Var

  Operating revenue                     

    Aeronautical revenue                                         
      Passenger airline revenue                                                             
        Passenger airline landing fees 196,300 224,057 224,249 27,757 14.13 % 43,900 47,404 47,113 3,504 7.98 %

        Terminal rent 492,500 493,036 499,414 536 0.10 % 98,500 99,088 98,487 588 0.59 %

        Other (boarding bridge) 46,800 50,027 49,921 3,227 6.89 % 9,500 8,295 9,443 (1,205) (12.68) %

      Total Passenger airline revenue 735,600 767,120 773,584 31,520 4.28 % 151,900 154,787 155,043 2,887 1.90 %

      Non-passenger airline revenue                                                             
        Non-passenger landing fees 36,000 58,419 36,016 22,419 62.27 % 7,100 14,998 7,069 7,898 111.23 %

        Cargo and hangar rentals 21,500 21,606 21,164 106 0.49 % 4,300 4,372 4,287 72 1.68 %

        Fuel tax & flowage fees 259,700 260,020 258,692 320 0.12 % 60,500 52,938 60,133 (7,562) (12.50) %

        Other (ramp parking, rapid refuel) 500 1,980 600 1,480 296.00 % 100 300 120 200 200.00 %

      Total Non-passenger airline revenue 317,700 342,025 316,472 24,325 7.65 % 72,000 72,608 71,609 608 0.84 %

    Total Aeronautical revenue 1,053,300 1,109,145 1,090,056 55,845 5.30 % 223,900 227,395 226,652 3,495 1.56 %

    Non-aeronautical revenue                                         
      Land and building leases 240,281 247,382 243,924 7,101 2.95 % 46,100 51,568 46,686 5,468 11.86 %

      Terminal - restaurant & retail 49,300 51,573 49,608 2,273 4.60 % 10,000 9,446 9,918 (554) (5.53) %

      Terminal - other 79,500 93,970 106,479 14,470 18.20 % 15,900 15,041 21,296 (859) (5.40) %

      Rental cars 502,400 445,909 434,048 (56,491) (11.24) % 103,700 95,511 99,695 (8,189) (7.89) %

      Parking and ground transportation 589,500 574,531 594,180 (14,969) (2.53) % 124,900 119,367 124,882 (5,533) (4.43) %

      Other (security fee, overtime fee, etc) 21,000 24,337 18,034 3,337 15.89 % 4,200 4,517 4,435 317 7.55 %

    Total Non-aeronautical revenue 1,481,981 1,437,702 1,446,273 (44,279) (2.98) % 304,800 295,450 306,912 (9,350) (3.06) %

  Total Operating revenues 2,535,281 2,546,847 2,536,329 11,566 0.45 % 528,700 522,845 533,564 (5,855) (1.10) %

Year to Date Month Ending

 

 

 

 

2



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority

Statements of Changes in Net Position
Unaudited - subject to change
 
 05/31/2018 05/31/2018 05/31/2017 05/31/2018 05/31/2018 05/31/2018 05/31/2018 05/31/2017 05/31/2018 05/31/2018

 Budget Actual actual Budget Diff Budget % Var Budget Actual actual Budget Diff Budget % Var

  Operating expenses                     

    Personnel compensation and benefits 947,836 901,117 798,261 (46,719) (4.92) % 175,493 161,107 148,963 (14,387) (8.19) %

    Communications and utilities 134,345 119,812 120,203 (14,533) (10.81) % 23,373 21,162 20,817 (2,211) (9.46) %

    Supplies and materials 268,964 175,304 194,884 (93,660) (34.82) % 38,242 42,147 37,909 3,906 10.21 %

    Contract services 412,155 236,461 251,930 (175,694) (42.62) % 144,137 35,456 18,419 (108,682) (75.40) %

    Repairs & maintenance 176,925 85,715 89,519 (91,210) (51.55) % 36,065 11,716 8,852 (24,349) (67.51) %

    Insurance 39,965 39,989 37,990 25 0.06 % 7,993 7,993 7,598 1 0.00 %

    Other (travel, marketing, air service, etc) 160,825 108,600 111,613 (52,226) (32.47) % 66,150 22,814 29,032 (43,336) (65.51) %

  Total Operating expenses 2,141,015 1,666,998 1,604,400 (474,017) (22.13) % 491,453 302,395 271,590 (189,058) (38.46) %

  Net Operating Income (Loss) 394,266 879,849 931,929 485,583 123.16 % 37,247 220,450 261,974 183,203 491.85 %

  Non-operating revenue (expenses)                     

    Passenger facility charges 353,400 360,778 346,482 7,378 2.08 % 90,500 90,974 88,713 474 0.52 %

    Interest income 29,000 64,462 32,977 35,462 122.28 % 4,400 14,710 7,742 10,310 234.32 %

    Interest expense (352,443) (350,991) (372,866) 1,452 (0.41) % (70,391) (68,939) (74,489) 1,452 (2.06) %

    Customer facility charges 234,400 236,509 234,368 2,109 0.89 % 58,200 55,320 58,200 (2,880) (4.94) %

    Capital contributions 5,586,353 1,107,422 0 (4,478,931) (80.17) % 1,829,000 727,774 0 (1,101,226) (60.20) %

    Capital expenditures (13,128,559) (1,588,238) (61,587) 11,540,321 (87.90) % (4,092,222) (183,803) 0 3,908,419 (95.50) %

    Debt principal payments (111,100) (222,930) (216,384) (111,830) 100.65 % 0 (111,829) (108,508) (111,829) 0.00 %

    Other (Legal Settlement) 0 0 (43,293) 0 0.00 % 0 0 0 0 0.00 %

  Total Non-operating revenue (expenses) (7,388,949) (392,988) (80,303) 6,995,961 (94.68) % (2,180,513) 524,207 (28,342) 2,704,720 (124.04) %

  Excess of revenue over (under) expense (6,994,683) 486,861 851,626 7,481,544 (106.96) % (2,143,266) 744,657 233,632 2,887,923 (134.74) %

 
 
Created on: 07/10/2018 05:55 PM

 

 

 

 

Year to Date Month Ending

 

3



Variance Explanations
The financial report discussion will explore variances of current year versus budget greater than $10,000 and 10%.
Revenues:

Expenses:

Debt Principal Payments –  Debt principal payment is down 110K because it was budgeted in June but paid in May (due June 1).

Capital expenditures –  May's AIP projects were originally budgeted as follows: $1M on 27 1/4 Rd realignment, $420K in runway design, $343K on taxiway A, $268K on the RTR Site, & 
2M of Non-AIP money on terminal renovations. The majority of these projects were re-forecasted for later in the year, all are still expected to be done this year.

Other expenses –  May expenses were under budget because ARFF training expenses budgeted in May were paid in March and April. Additionally, air service development and 
marketing expenses that were budgeted for the first portion of the year have shifted to later in the year. This is also where additional budget contingency ($15K) is held.

Repairs & Maintenance – May expenses were below budget because several repairs that were budgeted in May are expected to be completed later in the year.May's budget also 
included a $5k contingency for security that was not needed. 

Contract services –  Contract services continues to come in under budget, and our forecast indicates that will continue for the year. The main driver for the May variance was $75K 
budgeted for the airline rates and charges consultant that was budgeted in May but paid in July. The main drivers for the lower forecast for the year are lower legal fees and $18K 
budgeted for the Dynetics ground radar systems that is no longer planned to be spent. 

Supplies and Materials –  During forecasting, $4K of Grounds and Roadways materials and supplies were moved to the end of the year. May actuals align with forecasted budget.

Passenger landing fees  –  Passenger landing fees were slightly above budget in May due to more diversions than usual (21 vs. 8 in 2017). YTD we remain well over budget due to the 
high number of diversions in the first quarter.

Rental Cars –  Due to timing issues May revenue shows April activity. The total number of rental car days is down by 720 in April reflecting the decrease in passenger traffic in April. At 
May month end, YTD total transactions were 1,318 less than prior year causing revenue to dip below budget. Rental cars are facing an inventory shortage due to hail damage in Denver 
and a goal to improve car utilization.

Communications and Utilities – Year over year, electrical costs remain flat. Electrical costs were budgeted higher for 2018, most likely in anticipation of construction usage.

Capital contributions –  In May 2018, $2.4M of AIP work, detailed in the capital expenditure variance explanation, was budgeted to have been done/paid.  This variance due to the 
timing of the work being completed and reimbursement from the FAA. 90% ($1.8M) of this work is FAA reimbursable.

Interest income  –  Interest income remains over budget, because the budget anticipated $9M would be spent on the terminal projects this year, beginning in the second quarter. 
Project schedules and payments have shifted to later in the year. Additionally, the scope changes for the terminal projects are expected to reduce the cost by about $4M. As a result, 
interest income is anticipated to remain well above budget for the remainder of the year.

Fuel Tax & flowage fees – Revenue is 12% under May budget due to state tax being remitted earlier in April instead of May. At month end the YTD budget is on track with YTD actuals 
for Fuel Tax. May's monthly actual revenue aligns with the forecasted budget.

Non-passenger landing fees  –  BLM had 52 landings in May 2018 adding an additional $5K in revenue. Budget reflects a June 2018 BLM start, based on historical activity. YTD revenue is 
still above budget because of additional FedEx landings compared to prior years. 

Terminal Other  –  Terminal rent was on budget in May, and remains over budget YTD because the 3rd floor TSA office space wasn't given back to the Authority until April, and was 
budgeted to be given back in January

4



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority

Balance Sheet
As of Date: 05/31/2018
 
 Month Ending Month Ending  
 05/31/2018 05/31/2017  
   Difference

  Assets       

    Current Assets             
      Cash and Cash Equivalents 10,946,537.14 9,912,904.29 1,033,632.85
      Accounts Receivable, Net 978,703.89 613,469.97 365,233.92
      Prepaid Expenses 33,234.49 75,808.66 (42,574.17)
    Total Current Assets 11,958,475.52 10,602,182.92 1,356,292.60

    Fixed Assets, Net             
      Fixed Assets 121,209,181.91 119,643,999.56 1,565,182.35
      Accumulated Depreciation 60,904,378.12 61,403,807.19 (499,429.07)
    Total Fixed Assets, Net 60,304,803.79 58,240,192.37 2,064,611.42

    Other Assets             
      Escrows and Reserves 9,114,028.62 22,440,379.35 (13,326,350.73)
      Other Assets 847,415.10 850,586.02 (3,170.92)
    Total Other Assets 9,961,443.72 23,290,965.37 (13,329,521.65)

  Total Assets $ 82,224,723.03 $ 92,133,340.66 (9,908,617.63)

  Liabilities and Equity       

    Current Liabilities             
      Accounts Payable 926,755.68 266,178.56 660,577.12
      Accrued Liabilities (25,398.36) 244,811.94 (270,210.30)
      Deferred Revenue 22,288.57 0.00 22,288.57
      Note Payable - Current Portion 447,727.32 435,932.47 11,794.85
      Short Term Debts 871,791.23 13,711,751.04 (12,839,959.81)
      Other Current Liabilities 296,194.03 319,651.14 (23,457.11)
    Total Current Liabilities 2,539,358.47 14,978,325.15 (12,438,966.68)

    Long Term Liabilities             
      Note Payable - Long Term 229,673.41 678,831.73 (449,158.32)
      Long Term Debts 22,999,502.19 23,669,937.19 (670,435.00)
    Total Long Term Liabilities 23,229,175.60 24,348,768.92 (1,119,593.32)

    Other Liabilities             
      Deferred Revenue 469,311.60 0.00 469,311.60
      Other Liabilities 165,052.14 74,342.27 90,709.87
    Total Other Liabilities 634,363.74 74,342.27 560,021.47

    Stockholders Equity             
      Retained Earnings 55,077,167.97 52,498,272.21 2,578,895.76
      Net Income (Loss) 744,657.25 233,632.11 511,025.14
    Total Stockholders Equity 55,821,825.22 52,731,904.32 3,089,920.90

  Total Liabilities and Equity $ 82,224,723.03 $ 92,133,340.66 (9,908,617.63)

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5



  
Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority Board 

Board Meeting 
 Meeting Minutes 

June 19, 2018 
 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING    
I. Call to Order & Pledge of Allegiance. 

Mr. Rick Taggart, Board Chairman, called the Meeting of the Grand Junction Regional 
Airport Authority Board to order at 6:10 PM on June 19, 2018 in Grand Junction, 
Colorado and in the County of Mesa. 

 
II. Approval of Agenda 

 

Chairman Taggart stated that before the agenda is approved, a few changes needed to be 
made. Action items B and C will not be presented at this board meeting. Secondly, from a 
documentation standpoint, the board has two areas, Ms. O’Kane handed out an updated 
activity report, and then some updates to the minutes from the May 15, 2018 board 
meeting. Chairman Taggart asked for Mr. Ballegeer for the changes to the minutes.  
 
Mr. Ballegeer stated that he just updated some grammatical errors that Commissioner 
McDaniel’s had pointed out.   
 

Commissioner McDaniel moved for the Board to approve the agenda with the suggested 

changes. Commissioner Shrader seconded. Voice Vote. All Ayes.  

Commissioners Present: 

Rick Taggart, Chairman 
Tom Benton, Vice-Chairman 
Chuck McDaniel 
Clay Tufly  
Thaddeus Shrader  
Ronald Velarde 
 
Airport Staff: 

Angela Padalecki, Executive Director 
 Chance Ballegeer, Deputy Clerk 

Eric Trinklein 
Shelagh O’Kane  
Mark Papko 
Ben Peck 
Aaron Morrison 

Other: 

Brad Rolf, Mead & Hunt 
Shannon Kinslow, TOIL 
Adam Shuler, FCI 
Scott Peterson, WSP Consulting, LLC 
Roy Blythe, BG&CO 
Jared Easterlin, Mead & Hunt 
Colin Bible, Garver 
Geoff Mohney, Mead & Hunt 
Scott Cary, Mead & Hunt 

6



 
III. Commissioner Comments 

Commissioner Shrader shared with the board that he has the opportunity to go to a P3 
Economic National Summit in San Diego next month. Shrader stated that he has two 
reasons for going, one on behalf of the airport board, and two, private business owner. 
Commissioner Shrader stated that this summit will focus on Airports this year. 
Commissioner Shrader wanted to be up front with the summit and mentioned possibly a 
per diem from the airport. 
 
A discussion about the percentage of a per diem followed. A decision was made that 
Commissioner Shrader and airport executive director Padalecki should discuss numbers 
for the summit.  
 
Legal counsel asked that the airport make sure that whatever decision is made, have it in 
writing before the summit. 
 
Chairman Taggart wanted to thank the board and Mr. Benton for meeting last month, as 
he was not able to attend for personal matters. 
 

IV. Citizen Comments 
None.  
 

V. Staff Reports 
A. Director’s report 

Ms. Padalecki briefed the Board. Ms. Padalecki wanted to thank the airport team as 
June has been a very busy month. Many major events both good and some personal.  
 
Ms. Padalecki briefed the board that Mr. Peck’s son graduated from high school this 
month. Mark Papko welcomed a daughter to the family, Mila Papko. 
 
Ms. Padalecki briefed the board on the discretionary grant awards has been 
announced by the DOT for some projects going on at the airport. The airport does not 
have the grants in hand but it’s nice to see them on their way. 
 
Ms. Padalecki briefed the board on airline rates and charges.  
 
Ms. Padalecki briefed the board on the foreign trade zone. Not much to report on. 
Chairman Taggart stated that one of his concerns is that at some point the research of 
the need in terms of the amount of goods today, are following out of this region both 
incoming and out coming, the airport is going to have to pin that number down.  
Commissioner Tufly stated that he sees what Chairman Taggart is talking about. Has 
talked to the chamber of commerce director about nailing down some numbers. 
Commissioner Shrader stated that some businesses are moving into the valley with 
the idea that the airport is still pursuing the foreign trade zone. Commissioner Shrader 
asked how can the airport realistically forecast numbers without hockey sticking it, 
given the growth we are barely starting to see what additional support the airport 

7



would have for that trade zone. Commissioner Tufly stated that we need to produce 
something with the numbers. Ms. Padalecki stated that she received a copy of the 
memorandum of agreement with the CBP that they will ask the airport to sign once 
we get to a point. 
 
Ms. Padalecki briefed the board on the JumpStart conference that she attended. Spent 
some good time with GJT airline tenants. 
 
Ms. Padalecki briefed the board on the Colorado Airport Operators Association 
meeting the airport had with them last week. It was discussed that GJT may possibly 
host that conference in 2020. 
 
Ms. Padalecki briefed the board about the removal of the TSA CT80 that happened 
today. 
 
Ms. Padalecki briefed the board on updates on the hiring of a Financial Director. 
Commissioner Shrader asked if the airport has received some good candidates. Ms. 
Padalecki stated that the airport has received some quality applicants but wants to do 
this right and find the right person. That might mean hiring a head hunter, and not 
rush into hiring someone. 
 
Lastly, Ms. Padalecki briefed the board on the Administration building. The RFI 
closed May 21, 2018. The airport received two formal responses. 
   

B. Financial report 
 

Ms. Padalecki briefed the board on enplanements year over year. Enplanements 
remain below budget driven by down gauging and fewer seats on the PHX route; 
landings were down YOY in April. PHX seats went down by 24.1% in April 
compared to last year. Last year there was a 4

th
 flight to PHX that didn’t perform 

well. 
 

 

 14,000

 19,000

 24,000

 29,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Enplanements

2016 2017 2018 Budget

8



 
April YTD 2016: 67,879 
April YTD 2017: 73,427 
April YTD 2018: 68,120 
April YTD Budgeted: 74,209 

 

             
April YTD 2016: 1,868 
April YTD 2017: 1,935 
April YTD 2018: 1,942 
 
Ms. O’Kane briefed the board on Cargo Activity. Cargo landings decreased in April to 
single daily landings by FedEx due to the offseason and trucking more cargo. 
 

  

300

350

400

450

500

550

600

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Commercial Passenger Landings

2016 2017 2018

40

50

60

70

80

90

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Cargo Landings

2016 2017 2018

9



 

 
 

 
 

Operating revenues continue to exceed budget; operating expenses are below budget due 
to expenses being pushed to later months. 

 600,000

 700,000

 800,000

 900,000

 1,000,000

 1,100,000

 1,200,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Cargo Gross Weight (lbs)

2016 2017 2018

 7,000.00

 9,000.00

 11,000.00

 13,000.00

 15,000.00

 17,000.00

 19,000.00

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Cargo lbs per landing

2016 2017 2018

10



 
 

A discussion among the board and Ms. Padalecki about the financial statements and how 
it’s laid out, how they read, and how to improve it. 

   
Non-Airline revenues apart from parking revenue, are holding steady above budget.  

 

Statements of Changes in Net Position

Unaudited - subject to change

As of Date: 04/30/2018

 
 Year to Date Year To Date Year to Date Year To Date Year To Date Month Month Month Month Month Ending

 4/30/2018 4/30/2018 04/30/2017 04/30/2018 04/30/2018 04/30/2018 04/30/2018 04/30/2017 04/30/2018 04/30/2018

 Budget Actual actual Budget Diff Budget % Var Budget Actual actual Budget Diff Budget % Var

  Operating revenue                     

    Aeronautical revenue 859,053 881,750 863,404 22,697 2.64 % 209,286 220,750 199,369 11,464 5.47 %

    Non-aeronautical revenue 1,122,488 1,147,478 1,139,361 24,990 2.22 % 302,747 304,890 292,967 2,143 0.70 %

  Total Operating revenues 1,981,541 2,029,228 2,002,765 47,687 2.40 % 512,033 525,640 492,336 13,607 2.65 %

  Operating expenses 1,522,752 1,349,030 1,332,809 (173,721) (11.40) % 401,113 308,547 326,414 (92,566) (23.07) %

  Operating income, before depreciation 458,789 680,198 669,956 221,409 48.25 % 110,920 217,093 165,922 106,173 95.72 %

  Operating gain (loss) 458,789 680,198 669,956 221,409 48.25 % 110,920 217,093 165,922 106,173 95.72 %

  Non-operating revenue (expenses) (3,546,925) (862,236) (51,963) 2,684,689 (75.69) % (1,719,275) (279,814) 31,565 1,439,461 (83.72) %

  Excess of revenue over (under) expense (3,088,136) (182,038) 617,993 2,906,098 (94.10) % (1,608,355) (62,721) 197,487 1,545,634 (96.10) %

 

 

 

 

 

 90,000

 100,000

 110,000

 120,000

 130,000

 140,000

 150,000

 160,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Parking Revenue

2018 Budgeted

11



 

 

 -

 20,000

 40,000

 60,000

 80,000

 100,000

 120,000

 140,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Rental Car Revenue

2018 Budgeted

 8,000

 9,000

 10,000

 11,000

 12,000

 13,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Concession Revenue

 2018 Budgeted

12



 
 
Nonairline revenue is trending close to budget; increase in ground transportation revenue 
is driven mainly by Uber. Lyft started in the valley mid-June- Could see more uptick in 
TNC ground transportation. 
   

 

 40,000.00

 50,000.00

 60,000.00

 70,000.00

 80,000.00

 90,000.00

 100,000.00

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

PFC Revenue

2018 Budgeted

 4.00

 5.00

 6.00

 7.00

 8.00

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Revenue per Enplanement
Parking

2018 Budgeted

13



 

 

 3.50

 4.00

 4.50

 5.00

 5.50

 6.00

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Revenue per Enplanement
Rental Car

2018 Budgeted

 -

 0.20

 0.40

 0.60

 0.80

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Revenue per Enplanement
Concessions

2018 Budgeted

14



 
 
 
C. Operation Report 

Mr. Papko briefed the board on Minimum Standards process. Mr. Papko stated that 
the airport has received our third draft of Minimum Standards/General Provisions. 
The draft will be made available for the July Board workshop. The airport will solicit 
feedback/revisions from the Board at that time, then the airport will request board 
approval to release draft for tenant and stakeholder feedback at the July Board 
Meeting. Commissioner Shrader asked if the draft will be distributed before the 
workshop so that the board can digest it a little bit. Mr. Papko stated they will be. 

 
 
D. Project Report 

 
Mr. Trinklein briefed the board on the current contractors and consultant, showing 
them a flow chart of who is overseeing what project. The board thank him for the 
flow chart. Chairman Taggart asked for AIP numbers to be on the same flow chart so 
that the board can keep track of it all. 
 

E. Contractor Report 
 

Scott Cary with Mead & Hunt briefed the board on the runway and enabling projects. 
 

Geoff Mohney with Mead & Hunt briefed the board on the passenger loading bridge. 
Ms. Padalecki stated that this project remains on schedule and on budget, but the 
airport is at the mercy of the manufacture of the loading bridge because of the high 
demand. Many other airports need multiple loading bridges, while GJT needs one.  
Commissioner Shrader asked if it’s incumbent on the airport team to do the final 
commissioning on this or does the contractor handle all the final inspections, like 
quality of welds, etc. Ms. Padalecki stated that it’s on the contractor. A member of 
FCI briefed the board about steps taken on overseeing everything. Vice-Chairman 
Benton asked what the warranty is on the loading bridge. FCI stated is was a two year 
warranty that includes everything. 

 -

 0.10

 0.20

 0.30

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Revenue per Enplanement
Ground Transportation

2018 Budgeted

15



Colin Bible with Garver Engineering briefed the board on Taxiway A Rehabilitation. 
Mr. Papko wanted to thank Mr. Bible for accommodating operations requests as the 
project is at critical spots on the runway/taxiway. Commissioner Shrader asked if the 
bids had liquidated damages if the contractors couldn’t meet the deadline. Mr. Bible 
stated yes and that it’s hourly. Vice Chairman Benton asked if the projects will 
happen at the same time. Mr. Bible stated that these projects will happen on separate 
weekends.  

 
Adam Shuler with FCI briefed the board on the third floor administration office 
renovation. Vice Chairman Benton had a question about doors and walls. 
Commissioner Shrader asked if the new design gets all of the interns upstairs or is 
there still a little bit of split. Ms. Padalecki stated that the new design does get 
everyone upstairs, but the badging office will be on the 2nd floor. It also allows for 
one or two intern expansions, all of direct reports will be upstairs. The only two 
offices that will not be upstairs are the supervisors on Mr. Peck’s team, Manny and 
Shawn. 

 
Ms. Padalecki wanted to thank all of the contractors and consultants.  

 
Chairman Taggart stated that while it would be nice for the conference room to be a 
little bit bigger, he doesn’t want to compromise the airport team in order to make it 
bigger. Commissioner Shrader agreed with Chairman Taggart. Vice Chairman Benton 
thanked the contractors and consultants as well. 

 
VI. Consent Agenda 

A. May 15, 2018 Meeting Minutes 
B. Resolution CDOT Internship Grant 
C. Invoice BLM review fees 
D. Invoice Replacement Runway 12/30 Project Design – Mead & Hunt 
E. Invoice Terminal Renovation Design – Mead & Hunt 
F. Invoice RTR Bidding – Mead & Hunt 
G. Sky Adventures sublease renewals 

 
 

Commissioner Shrader moved for the Board to approve the Consent Agenda. 

Commissioner Tufly seconded. Voice Vote. All Ayes.  

 

Vice Chairman Benton asked about the BLM invoice about the consumption of $19,000 
deposit. Mr. Trinklein stated that it has been consumed and they are requesting additional 
funds. 

 
 
VII. Action Items 

 
A. FAA Grant Offer Approval  

Mr. Trinklein briefed the board on the FAA grant offer. The airport hasn’t physically 
received the FAA grant offer. This tab was put in place in case the airport received 

16



the grant before the board meeting. Therefore the Grant offer approval will be next 
month. 
 
B. Recommendation of award 27 ¼ road relocation 
 This action item was removed from the agenda. 
 
C. Recommendation of award remote transmitter/receiver relocation 
  This action item was removed from the agenda. 
 
D. Recommendation of award taxiway A 
       Little discussion on this action item as it was already discussed earlier. 
 
   

Vice Chairman Benton moved for the Board to approve the staff recommendation of 

award for taxiway A. Commissioner Velarde seconded. Voice Vote. All Ayes.  

 

       E. General Contractor procurement scope of services contract 
Mr. Trinklein and Geoff Mohney with Mead & Hunt briefed the board on the 
general contractor procurement scope. Commissioner McDaniel asked how do 
the on call general contractor get compensated. Mr. Mohney stated that it 
depends on how the airport would like to do it. Typically with on call part of the 
contract, you set in place general overhead costs as well as information on how 
rates are set. Commissioner McDaniel asked if Mead & Hunt will go out and find 
that on-call general contractor. Mr. Mohney stated yes. A discussion about the 
contract ensued. Chairman Taggart stated that this community is on fire with the 
amount of projects that are happening. District 51 jobs alone has buried sub-
contractors. Getting an on call general contractor would give the airport leverage 
against other projects around the valley. 
 Vice Chairman Benton stated that while he agrees with Chairman Taggart about 
the general contractor and having leverage with the sub-contractors to get the 
jobs done, but $55,000, it’s a pretty high price tag for 3 or 4 GC applications in 
this process. Mr. Benton stated that project one is a little bit egregious. The 
airport could have done an RFP and gotten to the pre-proposal and the contractor 
evaluations, and the board could have made the decisions and selected a general 
contractor. Just food for thought. Ms. Padalecki stated that as the airport gets to 
the letter of interest stage and only 3 GC apply, the airport has the ability to stop, 
and do it in house. The $55,000 is for the full scope of the work, but the airport 
can stop and pivot, and take it on ourselves. Commissioner Shrader asked if it 
was a lump sum or a T&M. Ms. Padalecki stated it was a fixed price for the full 
scope of work but they will only bill us for work completed. 
Commissioner Tufly stated that there is not a lot of dollars at risk to see how it 
works and it sounds like staff thinks it’s an important move. Commissioner Tufly 
continued stating that he’s not positive that we will find GC’s that we couldn’t 
have on our own, but it gets the terminal project going so I see the reason why we 
are doing this. 

 

17



Commissioner Tufly moved for the Board to approve the general contractor procurement 

scope of services contract up to $56,216.00. Commissioner McDaniel seconded. Voice 

Vote. All Ayes.  

 
  F. Mid-year board officer changes 
  

Chairman Taggart stated that he wanted to work on the transition with Angela and 
that he would prefer to step down from as the chair effectively after tonight. 
Chairman Taggart stated that he would not be leaving the board, as the city 
council has already voted on him staying another year. But we talked about this at 
the beginning of the year and would like to step down from chair and turning the 
reins over to Mr. Benton and get a new Vice Chairman. Commissioner McDaniel 
stated that if Mr. Taggart steps down the board technically needs to vote Mr. 
Benton in as Chairman. 
 
Commissioner Shrader wanted to thank commissioner Taggart for his service as 
the Board Chairman with all of the activity that has been going on the last 14 
months. Very much appreciated.  All other commissioners agreed and thanked 
Commissioner Taggart. 
 
 

Commissioner Taggart moved for the Board to approve Vice Chairman Benton as the 

new Chairman and Commissioner McDaniel and the new Vice Chairman. Commissioner 

Tufly seconded. Voice Vote. All Ayes.  

 

 
 
  

VIII. Discussion Items 
 

A. Change order East Terminal air carrier apron 
 Colin Bible with Garver Engineering briefed the board on the East Terminal Air Carrier    
Apron. 
 
Commissioner Taggart thanked Mr. Bible and the Garver team for the work done with 
the whole air carrier apron and the work done to make the threat of legal action 
evaporate. Mr. Bible thanked the board for their support. 
 
Chairman Benton asked about timing. Mr. Bible stated the he believes that the project 
should start up in August and are shooting to be done by Thanksgiving. 
 
 

IX. Any other business which may come before the board 
 

  
 

18



X. Adjournment    
Commissioner Taggart made a motion to adjourn. Commissioner Velarde seconded. 

Voice Vote. All Ayes.  Meeting adjourned at 8:24 PM   
  
 

 
 

Tom Benton, Board Chairman 
 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 
 
Chance Ballegeer, Deputy Clerk to the Board 
 
 

19



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC:  Resolution No. 2018-004: Revised Resolution Concerning 
Execution of Documents Pertaining to Bank Accounts 

PURPOSE: Information ☒ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the Board adopt resolution No. 2018-004: 
Revised Resolution Concerning Execution of Documents 
Pertaining to Bank Accounts. 
  

LAST ACTION: At the April 2018 Board Meeting, the board adopted resolution 
2018-003 increasing board approval requirements to $10,000.00 
  

DISCUSSION: The banking resolution requires amending to include new 
Chairman and Vice Chairman. 

FISCAL IMPACT: None 

COMMUNICATION    
STRATEGY: 

None 

ATTACHMENTS: Resolution No. 2018-004:  

STAFF CONTACT: Shelagh O’Kane 
Email: sokane@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8590 
 

 
  

20

mailto:sokane@gjairport.com


Resolution No. 2018-003 
Of the 

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY 
A Resolution Concerning 

Execution of Documents Pertaining to Bank Accounts 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority (“the Board”) desires to 
authorize the deposit of Authority funds, and funds due to the Authority, into Authority accounts in 
eligible financial institutions in Mesa County which have been designated by the Board as meeting the 
requirements for deposit of Authority monies under appropriate federal and Colorado laws; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to authorize the Board Chairman, Vice Chairman, Executive 
Director, Project Manager or Director of Finance to transfer funds between Authority accounts within the 
same Authority Board-designated financial institution; and 
 

WHEREAS, The Board desires to authorize the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Executive Director or 
Project Manager as designated below, to execute with only one (1) signature any and all (A) bank 
documents, checks and other instruments of withdrawal in the sum of less than $10,000, and (B) 
any payroll and payroll related expenditures, including but is not limited to, payments for tax 
withholding, payments for retirement and 401(k) contributions, employee benefits (health 
insurance, etc.) and garnishments and sales tax:  

 

 Tom Benton  Chairman 
  Chuck McDaniels  Vice Chairman 
  Angela Padalecki  Executive Director 
  Eric Trinklein  Project Manager 

 
Provided, however, that checks or other instruments of withdrawal (other than payroll and payroll 
related expenditures including but not limited to payments for tax withholding, payments for 
retirement and 401(k) contributions, employee benefits (health insurance, etc.) and garnishments 
and sales tax)  in an amount equal to or greater than $10,000 shall have two (2) such signatories, as 
follows: 
 

 Chairman; AND/OR 
 Vice Chairman; AND 
 Executive Director OR 
 Project Manager 

 
AND, 
 
 WHEREAS, The Board desires to require three (3) signatories, as follows, to execute any 
promissory note or other evidence of indebtedness at any financial institution: 
 

 Chairman or Vice Chairman; AND 
 Executive Director; AND 
 One (1) additional Board Commissioner 

 
NOW THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED that the Board authorizes the deposit of Authority 

funds, and funds due to the Authority, into an Authority account in a eligible financial institution in Mesa 

21



County which has been designated by the Board as meeting the requirements for deposit of public monies 
under appropriate federal and Colorado laws; and 
 
 IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Board authorizes the Board Chairman, Vice Chairman, 
Executive Director, Project Manager, or Director of Finance to transfer funds between Authority accounts 
within the same Authority Board-designated financial institution; and 
 
 IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board authorizes the Chairman, Vice Chairman, 
Executive Director or Project Manager to execute with one (1) signature any and all (A) bank 
documents, checks and other instruments of withdrawal in the sum of less than $10,000, and (B) all 
payroll and payroll related expenditures, including but not limited to, payments for tax 
withholding, payments for retirement and 401(k) contributions, employee benefits (health 
insurance, etc.) and garnishments and sales tax: 
 

 Tom Benton  Chairman 
  Chuck McDaniels  Vice Chairman 
  Angela Padalecki  Executive Director 
  Eric Trinklein  Project Manager 
 
Provided, however, that checks or other instruments of withdrawal (other than payroll and payroll 
related expenditures, including but not limited to payments for tax withholding, payments for 
retirement and 401(k) contributions, employee benefits (health insurance, etc.), garnishments and 
sales tax)  in an amount equal to or greater than $10,000 shall require two (2) such signatures as 
follows: 
 

 Chairman; AND/OR 
 Vice Chairman; AND 
 Executive Director; OR 
 Project Manager 

 
AND, 
 
IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board requires three (3) signatures, as follows, to execute any 
promissory note or other evidence of indebtedness at any financial institution: 
 

 Chairman or Vice Chairman; AND 
 Executive Director; AND 
 One (1) additional Board Commissioner 

 
   

22



PASSED AND ADOPTED this    17th    day of     July     , 2018. 
 
 
 
  __________________________ 
Victoria Hightower, Clerk  Tom Benton, Chairman 
 
Verification 
 
________________, first duly sworn, deposes and states that he has read the foregoing Resolution and 
that the same is true and correct to the best of his knowledge and belief. 
 
 
  
Chairman 
 
 
STATE OF COLORADO  
    SS 
COUNTY OF MESA  
 
 
Subscribed and sworn before me this    day of                                 , 2018. 
 
 
 
  
Notary Public 
 
 
My commission expires   
 
 
Board Members Voting Aye:    Those Voting Nay: 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 
 

23



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC:  Airport Employee Handbook 

PURPOSE: Information ☒ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the Board adopt revisions to the Airport 
Employee Handbook. 
  

LAST ACTION: Adoption of Airport Employee Handbook 05/20/2015 
  

DISCUSSION: The Airport Employee Handbook is in need of revisions to the 
area of; Jury Duty, call back pay, and the FMLA (Family Medical 
Leave Act)/Medical Policy. 

FISCAL IMPACT: None 

COMMUNICATION    
STRATEGY: 

None 

ATTACHMENTS: Airport Employee Handbook 

STAFF CONTACT: Mark Papko 
Email: mpapko@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8596 
 

 
 

24

mailto:mpapko@gjairport.com


 

 

Employee Handbook  
Version 1.0  

Adopted May 20, 2015 

   

  
  

  
  
  

  
  
  

 

25



Employee Handbook  

Table of Contents  
    
IMPORTANT NOTICE _______________________________________________________ 1  
  
About the Grand Junction Regional Airport ______________________________________ 2  

History________________________________________________________________ 2  
Mission _______________________________________________________________ 2  
Vision ________________________________________________________________ 2  

  
Let’s Communicate ___________________________________________________________ 3  

Employee Relations Philosophy ____________________________________________ 3  
If You Have a Problem ___________________________________________________ 3  

  
What You Can Expect From Us ________________________________________________ 5  

Orientation ____________________________________________________________ 5  
Equal Employment Opportunity ____________________________________________ 5  
Requests for Accommodation ______________________________________________ 5  
Policy against Unlawful Harassment and Discrimination ________________________ 6  
What Should You Do If You Feel You Have Been Harassed _____________________ 7  
Policy Against Retaliation ________________________________________________ 7  
Immigration Compliance _________________________________________________ 8  
Application Information __________________________________________________ 8  
Employee Classification __________________________________________________ 8  
Meal and Rest Periods ___________________________________________________ 9  
Breastfeeding in the Workplace ____________________________________________ 9  

  
Grand Junction Regional Airport Benefits ______________________________________ 10  

Your Pay _____________________________________________________________ 10  
Call Back Pay _________________________________________________________ 10  
Timekeeping Procedures _________________________________________________ 10  
Pay Deductions ________________________________________________________ 
110  
Expense Reimbursement _________________________________________________ 11  
Garnishments & Support Orders ___________________________________________ 11  
Paid Time Off _________________________________________________________ 12  
Paid Sick Leave________________________________________________________ 15  
Medical Insurance ______________________________________________________ 16  
IRS Section 125 -- Cafeteria Plan __________________________________________ 16  
Health Insurance Continuation ____________________________________________ 16  
COBRA ______________________________________________________________ 16  

26



Dental Insurance _______________________________________________________ 17  
Life Insurance _________________________________________________________ 17  
Colorado Public Employees Retirement Association (PERA). ___________________ 17  
401(k) _______________________________________________________________ 17 
Long Term Disability Insurance ___________________________________________ 17  
Health and Wellness ____________________________________________________ 18 
Training and Educational Assistance _______________________________________ 18  
Civic Duties __________________________________________________________ 19  
Paid Time Off (PTO) ___________________________________________________ 20  
Sick Leave ____________________________________________________________ 20  
Bereavement Leave _____________________________________________________ 20  
Military Leave Of Absence _______________________________________________ 21  
Volunteer Firefighter Leave ______________________________________________ 21  

  
Safety & Health _____________________________________________________________ 22  

Accident Reporting and Investigation ______________________________________ 22  
Workers’ Compensation _________________________________________________ 22  
Alcohol and Drug Policy ________________________________________________ 23  

  
Grand Junction Regional Airport Rules and Policies ______________________________ 25  

Grand Junction Regional Airport Policies ___________________________________ 25  
Absenteeism and Tardiness _______________________________________________ 25  
Attitude ______________________________________________________________ 25  
Bulletin Boards ________________________________________________________ 26  
Airport Keys/Entry Cards ________________________________________________ 26  
Airport Relationships Policy ______________________________________________ 26  
Airport Vehicles _______________________________________________________ 27  
Company Issued Cell Phones, Radios, Computers, E-Mail, Voice Mail and Internet __ 27  
Code of Professional Conduct and Conflict of Interest _________________________ 32  
Damage to Property ____________________________________________________ 32  
Facsimile and Copy Machines ____________________________________________ 33  
Fraud, Dishonesty and False Statements ____________________________________ 33  
Gambling_____________________________________________________________ 33  
Hazardous and Toxic Materials ___________________________________________ 33  
Honesty ______________________________________________________________ 33  
Housekeeping _________________________________________________________ 33  
Illegal Activity ________________________________________________________ 34  
Insubordination ________________________________________________________ 34  
Media Inquires ________________________________________________________ 34  
Meetings _____________________________________________________________ 34  
Misuse of Property _____________________________________________________ 34  
Off-Duty Use of Facilities _______________________________________________ 35  
Off-Duty Social and Recreational Activities _________________________________ 35  

27



Outside Employment ___________________________________________________ 35  
Overtime and Work Schedule _____________________________________________ 35  
Parking ______________________________________________________________ 35  
Personal Appearance and Behavior ________________________________________ 36  
Personal Mail _________________________________________________________ 36  
Personal Telephone Calls and Visits ________________________________________ 37  
Personnel Records ______________________________________________________ 37  
Poor Performance ______________________________________________________ 37  
Protection of the Grand Junction Regional Airport’s Confidential Information ______ 38  
Publicity _____________________________________________________________ 38  
Safety _______________________________________________________________ 39  
Searches, Inspections & Workplace Privacy _________________________________ 39  
Sleeping______________________________________________________________ 39  
Smoking _____________________________________________________________ 39  
Social Media, Social Networking and Web blogs Policy ________________________ 40  
Solicitation - Distribution Policy __________________________________________ 42  
Theft _______________________________________________________________ 42  
Unauthorized Interviews _________________________________________________ 42  
Workplace Violence Policy ______________________________________________ 42  

  
Career Development and Changes in Status _____________________________________ 43  

Advancement _________________________________________________________ 43  
Performance Evaluations ________________________________________________ 43  
Changes in Personnel Records ____________________________________________ 43  
Outside Inquiries Concerning Employees ___________________________________ 43  
Involuntary Termination _________________________________________________ 43  
Exit Interview _________________________________________________________ 43  
To Sum It All Up ______________________________________________________ 44  

  

28



Equal Employment Opportunity  

The Airport is committed to providing equal employment opportunities to all employees 
and applicants without regard to disability, race, creed, color, sex, sexual orientation, 
religion, age, national origin, ancestry, military or veteran status, health conditions related 
to pregnancy or the physical recovery from childbirth, genetic profile, or any other 
protected status in accordance with all applicable Federal, State, and local laws.   

This policy extends to all aspects of our employment practices, including but not limited 
to, recruiting, hiring, discipline, firing, promoting, transferring, compensation, benefits, 
training, leaves of absence, and other terms and conditions of employment.   

Requests for Accommodation  

The Grand Junction Regional Airport is also committed to complying with the laws 
protecting qualified individuals with disabilities.  The Airport will provide a reasonable 
accommodation for any known physical or mental disability of a qualified individual with 
a disability to the extent required by law, provided the requested accommodation does not 
create an undue hardship for the Airport and/or does not pose a direct threat to the health 
or safety of others in the workplace and/or to the individual.  If you require an 
accommodation to perform the essential functions of your job, you must notify the 
Administration Department.  Once the Airport is aware of the need for an accommodation, 
we will engage in an interactive process to identify possible accommodations that will 
enable you to perform the essential functions of the job.  

 

The Authority will also reasonably accommodate employees for health conditions related 
to pregnancy or the physical recovery from childbirth, if the employee requests the 
reasonable accommodation, so long as the accommodation does not impose an undue 
hardship on the Authority.  The Authority may require the employee or applicant to provide 
a note stating the necessity of a reasonable accommodation from a licensed health care 
provider before providing a reasonable accommodation. 

 

The Authority will also reasonably accommodate nursing mothers by providing a private 
space to express milk that is near their work location and is not a toilet stall in a 
restroom.  Nursing mothers may use their regularly scheduled meal and rest breaks to 
express milk.  In the event an employee needs additional time to express milk, the 
employee and supervisor will agree upon a plan which may include the employee taking 
unpaid breaks or using paid leave, arriving at work earlier or leaving later.  

 

If you believe that you have been treated in a manner that does not comply with these 
policies, please notify the Airport immediately, by speaking to the Administration 

29



Department, your supervisor, or the Airport Manager. The Airport takes all complaints of 
discrimination seriously.  You are encouraged to utilize this procedure without fear of 
reprisal.  

This policy extends to all aspects of our employment practices, including but not limited 
to, recruiting, hiring, discipline, firing, promoting, transferring, compensation, benefits, 
training, leaves of absence, and other terms and conditions of employment.     

Policy against Unlawful Harassment and Discrimination  

The Grand Junction Regional Airport is committed to providing a work environment that 
is free of unlawful harassment.  In furtherance of this commitment, the Airport strictly 
prohibits all forms of unlawful harassment, which includes harassment on the basis of 
disability, health conditions related to pregnancy or the physical recovery from childbirth, 
race, creed, color, sex, sexual orientation, religion, age, national origin, or ancestry or any 
other protected status in accordance with all applicable Federal, State and local laws.   

The Airport’s policy against unlawful harassment applies to all employees of the 
Airport.  The Airport prohibits managers, supervisors and employees from  harassing co-
workers as well as the Airport’s customers, vendors, suppliers, independent contractors 
and others doing business with the Airport.  In addition, the Airport prohibits its customers, 
vendors, suppliers, independent contractors and others doing business with the Airport 
from harassing our employees.  

Violation of this policy will subject an employee to disciplinary action, up to and including 
immediate termination.    

Examples of Prohibited Sexual Harassment:  Sexual harassment includes a broad spectrum 
of conduct.  By way of illustration only, and not limitation, some examples of unlawful 
and unacceptable behavior include:  

 unwanted sexual advances;  
 offering an employment benefit (such as a raise, promotion or assistance with one’s career) 
in exchange for sexual favors, or threatening an employment detriment (such as termination, 
demotion, or disciplinary action) for an employee’s failure to engage in sexual activity;  
 visual conduct, such as leering, making sexual gestures, displaying sexually suggestive 
objects or pictures, cartoons or posters;  
 verbal sexual advances, propositions, requests or comments;  
 verbal abuse of a sexual nature, graphic verbal commentaries about an individual’s body, 
sexually degrading words used to describe an individual, suggestive or obscene letters, notes 
or invitations;  
 physical conduct, such as touching, assault, impeding or blocking movement;  

Examples of What Constitutes Prohibited Harassment:  In addition to the conduct listed 
above, the Airport strictly prohibits harassment concerning race, creed, color, and religion, 
national origin, disability, health conditions related to pregnancy or the physical recovery 
from childbirth, age, sexual orientation, military or veteran’s status, genetic profile or any 

30



other protected characteristic.  By way of illustration only, and not limitation, prohibited 
harassment concerning any of these protected characteristic includes:  slurs, epithets, and 
any other offensive remarks;  

 jokes, whether written, verbal, or electronic;  
 threats, intimidation, and other menacing behavior;  
 other verbal, graphic, or physical conduct; and  
 other conduct predicated upon one or more of the protected categories identified in this 
policy.  

If you have any questions about what constitutes harassing behavior, ask your supervisor 
or another member of management.  

Harassment of our customers or employees of our customers, vendors, suppliers or 
independent contractors by our employees is also strictly prohibited.  Such harassment 
includes the types of behavior specified in this policy, including sexual advances, verbal 
or physical conduct of a sexual nature, sexual comments and gender-based insults.  Any 
such harassment will subject an employee to disciplinary action, up to and including 
immediate termination.  

Breastfeeding in the Workplace  

Grand Junction Regional Airport Benefits  
 

The Grand Junction Regional Airport provides the following benefits to eligible employees.  The 
Grand Junction Regional Airport reserves the right to terminate or modify these plans at any time, 
for any reason, with or without notice to employees.  

Your Pay  

Employees are paid biweekly on Fridays. Employees should pick up their own paycheck, or 
voucher, on the normally scheduled pay day.  If the scheduled payday falls on a Sunday or holiday, 
paychecks will generally be distributed on the preceding business day.  Any questions about the 
amount of your pay or deductions should be brought to the attention of the Administration 
Department immediately.   

The workweek starts on Sunday at 12:01 and runs through Saturday at 12:00 midnight.  

Call Back Pay 

Non-exempt employees who are called out to an unanticipated situation arising at times other than 
during regularly scheduled working hours shall be compensated in the following manner: 

 Call back pay shall be compensated at the employee’s normal rate of pay. 
 Call back pay shall count as hours worked for the purpose of computing overtime. 
 A minimum of two (2) hours pay shall be guaranteed for each call back. 

31



Timekeeping Procedures  

Unless otherwise notified, each employee is required to accurately record his or her hours of work 
for Grand Junction Regional Airport through the use of a time sheet. You are required to submit 
the time record promptly following the close of the pay period so that your time record can be 
reviewed by your supervisor prior to processing your paycheck for the pay period.  Accurately 
recording all of your time is required in order to be sure that you are paid for all hours worked as 
required by the wage and hour laws.  “Off clock” work time is not permitted.  “Hours worked” is 
defined by law as all time an employee is subject to the control of an employer, and includes all 
time that an employee is suffered or permitted to work, whether or not required to do so.  

Your obligation to accurately record all hours worked does not relieve you of your obligation to 
obtain advance approval from your supervisor before working overtime or hours beyond your 
regular work schedule.  Employees who work beyond their regularly scheduled work hours, 
including overtime or off-schedule hours, without prior authorization by their supervisor are 
subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.  

You will be informed your first day on the job whether you are required to keep your time by a 
time clock, a time sheet or some other method.  Whatever your method of timekeeping, you are 
expected to follow the established procedures in keeping an accurate record of your hours worked.    

Any changes or corrections to your time card or time record must be initialed by you and your 
Department Manager.  Under no circumstances may any employee punch or record another 
employee’s time card.  

Pay Deductions  

The Grand Junction Regional Airport will make deductions for the following:  

 Federal and State income taxes;  
 Colorado Public Employee Retirement Association wage deductions;  
 Garnishments, including child support or other court ordered wage deductions;  

 Employee’s portion of group insurance premiums;  
 Group insurance premiums for coverage of eligible dependents;  
 Loss, theft, damage, or destruction of Grand Junction Regional Airport property.  

  
No other deductions will be made unless specifically authorized in writing by the employee. All 
deductions will be itemized on the employee’s pay stub.  Questions regarding payroll deductions 
should be directed to the Administration Department.  
  
Expense Reimbursement  

Grand Junction Regional Airport reimburses employees for expenses reasonably incurred on 
behalf of the Grand Junction Regional Airport and approved in advance by Grand Junction 
Regional Airport management. All requests for reimbursement should be submitted to your 

32



supervisor for consideration. Submission of original receipts are required for all reimbursement 
requests.  

Garnishments & Support Orders  

Grand Junction Regional Airport expects its employees to be prompt in the payment of their 
personal debts. Employees should be aware that a court can order Grand Junction Regional Airport 
to deduct amounts directly from an employee's pay when that employee has failed to pay his or 
her personal debts.  

Debts to Employer  

Any employee who fails to satisfy a personal debt to Grand Junction Regional Airport is 
subject to the amount being deducted from his or her payroll earnings. The employee will 
have the opportunity to settle the debt before any amounts are deducted from the 
employee's wages.  

Court-Ordered Garnishments   

Any court-ordered garnishment for child support, family support, bankruptcies, or other 
judgments rendered against an employee must be forwarded immediately to Grand 
Junction Regional Airport's Business Administration Department for processing.  

Federal Tax Levies   

A levy from the Internal Revenue Service must be forwarded immediately to the Grand 
Junction Regional Airport's Administration Department for processing.  

Support Orders  

State and Federal laws require Grand Junction Regional Airport to withhold part of 
employees' wages to satisfy child support orders. When Grand Junction Regional Airport 
receives a support withholding notice, it immediately will begin withholding wages as 
specified in the notice. Grand Junction Regional Airport will continue to withhold wages 
for child support until otherwise notified by the child support enforcement agency. 
Withholding child support takes priority over all other wage garnishments or deductions.   

Grand Junction Regional Airport will honor and service all out-of-State child support 
withholding orders it receives, in compliance with Federal law.  

Grand Junction Regional Airport will inform the State child support agency when an 
employee subject to child support withholding leaves the Grand Junction Regional Airport. 
The notice will provide the employee's last known home address and telephone number, as 
well as the new employer's name and address, if known.  

Employees will not be disciplined or discharged because of a child support withholding 
order. In addition, applicants will not be refused hire because of a support withholding 
order.  

33



Administrative Fees   

Grand Junction Regional Airport deducts a fee of Four Dollars ($4.00) from the employee's 
remaining earnings after deducting the appropriate amount for each mandatory or 
voluntary family support payment it processes.  

Paid Time Off  

  General Information and Eligibility  

Full-time employees accrue Paid Time Off to use for vacations, holidays, illness, off the 
job injury, medical/dental appointments, personal business, child care, pregnancies, 
bereavement, family emergencies or for any other valid absence as determined by his/her 
Department Manager.   

PTO hours include vacation leave and holiday leave. Full-time employees shall accrue the 
following amount of Paid Time Off on a bi-weekly basis for 26 pay periods each year.  

  
Bi-weekly and Annual Accrual Amounts:  
  

Years of Service  Bi-Weekly Accrual  Annual Accrual Hours  

1 through 4  9.38 Hours  243.88 Hours  

5 through 9  10.38 Hours  269.88 Hours  

10 or more  11.38 Hours  295.88 Hours  

  
 PTO Accrual Breakdown:  Years of Service 1-4  

80.00 Holiday Hours (3.07 Hours per Pay Period)  
         163.88 Paid Time Off Hours (6.30 Hours per Pay Period)  

  
          
  

Years of Service 5-9  
80.00 Holiday Hours (3.07 Hours per Pay Period)  

         189.88 Paid Time Off Hours (7.30 Hours per Pay Period)  
      

         Years of Service 10 or more  
80.00 Holiday Hours (3.07 Hours per Pay Period)  

         215.88 Paid Time Off Hours (8.30 Hours per Pay Period)  
  
Maximum Accumulation of Paid Time Off:  
  

Years of Service  Annual Accrual Hours  Max Accrual  

34



1 through 4  243.88 Hours  220 Hours  

5 through 9  269.88 Hours  280 Hours  

10 or more  295.88 Hours  360 Hours  

  
        
PTO shall not count as hours worked for purposes of computing overtime.  
  
Employees may not accrue over their maximum accrual limit, unless the overage is caused by the 
Airport and approved by the Administration Department and the Airport Manager.  

PTO and Holidays  

Employees who do not work on a scheduled Holiday that occurs on a regular work day shall have 
each holiday charged against Paid Time Off.  Time worked on holidays shall count as hours worked 
for purposes of computing overtime.  When a holiday falls on an employee’s regularly scheduled 
day off, no PTO shall be charged or paid for that day.    

Observed Holidays  

 New Year's Day  January 1  
 Martin Luther King, Jr. Day  3Rd Monday in January  
 President’s Day  3rd Monday in February   
 Memorial Day  Last Monday in May  
 Independence Day  July 4  

Labor Day            1st Monday in September  
Columbus Day           2nd Monday in October  

 Veteran’s Day  November 11  
 Thanksgiving Day  4th Thursday in November   
 Christmas Day  December 25  
  

When a holiday falls on a Saturday, it is observed on the preceding Friday.  When the holiday falls 
on a Sunday, it is observed the following Monday.    

Holiday leave shall accrue at a rate of 8 hours per recognized holiday and be added to the 
employee’s Paid Time Off (PTO) accrual, each pay period.  (For example, 10 recognized holidays 
would accrue at a rate of 80 hours per year, or 3.07 hours per pay period).  

Except as provided in the following paragraph, employees who are required to work holidays shall 
be allowed to take PTO at other times during the year as scheduled.  

Employees may not accrue over their maximum accrual limit, unless the overage is caused by the 
Airport and approved by Administration and the Airport Manager.  

35



Scheduling Paid Time Off  

Scheduled PTO is distinguished from Unscheduled PTO by the degree of control or discretion that 
the Airport, through its supervisors and Department Managers, exercise in the scheduling of leave 
time.   

Scheduled Use  

Full-time employees are eligible to use accrued PTO after they have completed a minimum of three 
(3) months of service. The scheduling of time off shall be at the discretion of the supervisor and/or 
Department Manager based upon operational needs.  Every reasonable effort will be made to 
accommodate the employee’s requested Paid Time Off.    

Employees must submit a leave request at least four (4) weeks in advance of the use of leave, to 
the Supervisor or Department Manager. The supervisor or Department Manager has the option of 
denying or rescheduling the leave to another date and/or time based upon the operation needs of 
the Airport. If an employee submits a Paid Time Off request less than four (4) weeks prior to the 
date requested for leave, the request must be approved by the Airport Manager.  

Unscheduled Leave  

In the event the employee is unable to work due to an unforeseen personal illness or injury or for 
other unforeseen reasons, the following provisions shall apply:  

1. Notification: If unable to report to work for any reason, employees shall communicate 
this fact to their supervisor or the Administration Department as early as possible.  
Leaving messages with other employees or on voice mail is not acceptable.  Failure to 
call in when absent will result in forfeiture of pay and may result in disciplinary action 
up to and including termination.  

2. Verification of Need: The employee may be asked to furnish medical verification or 
other proof that unscheduled use of PTO was unavoidable.  Such proof may be 
requested from the supervisor, the Administration Department, or the Airport Manager.  

3. Unscheduled Time without Pay: In the event an employee must be off the job on an 
unscheduled basis and has not accrued Paid Time Off to cover the absence, he/she may 
request leave without pay. Time without pay must be requested at least four (4) weeks 
in advance, and approved by the Airport Manager.  

Payment for PTO at Separation  

Upon separation, employees will be paid for all accrued but unused PTO.  

Paid Sick Leave  

Full-time employees are credited three and one half (3.5) hours of sick leave per pay period. Sick 
leave benefits are intended solely to provide income protection in the event of illness or injury, and 
may not be used for any other absence.   

36



Sick leave accumulates from year to year with a maximum accrual limit of 520 hours.   

Effective May 20, 2015, employees with a Sick Leave bank in excess of 520 hours will be permitted 
to keep the unused leave for future use. Employees with a Sick Leave balance in excess of 520 
hours will only be permitted to use a maximum of 520 hours in a 12-month period.   

Upon separation, employees will not be paid for unused Sick Leave.  

Unscheduled use of PTO will be used for a period of three (3) consecutive days before Sick Leave 
is authorized.  In the event a need for continued time off is necessary, employees shall be allowed 
to use Sick Leave for the remainder of the leave. The employee may be asked to bring medical 
certification verifying their illness.  

Eligible employees may use sick leave for an absence due to their own illness or injury.  In addition, 
sick leave may be authorized for a period of forty-hours (40 hours) for any immediate family-
member illness. This will be permitted only after three (3) consecutive days of Paid Time Off have 
been used. Employees must submit a note to Administration from an appropriate healthcare 
provider to be considered for the use of Sick Leave.   

In the event of your documented life threatening illness/injury, or the need of an immediate family 
member, additional sick leave may be granted depending on the Airport’s ability to accommodate 
additional leave and with approval of the Administration Department or Airport Manager.   

Employees who are on Sick Leave will continue to accrue paid time off and sick leave for up to 
thirty (30) consecutive days. After thirty (30) consecutive days, paid time off and sick leave will 
stop accruing.  

For the purpose of this policy, immediate family is defined as:  
 Brother  
 Child  
 Father  
 Father-in-law  
 Mother  
 Mother-in-law  
 Sister  

 Spouse  
 Stepbrother  
 Stepchild  
 Stepfather  
 Stepmother  
 Stepsister  

  
Civic Duties  

Grand Junction Regional Airport encourages each of its employees to accept his or her civic 
responsibilities.  We are a good corporate citizen, and are pleased to assist you in the performance 
of your civic duties.  

Jury Duty:  If you receive a call to jury duty, please notify your supervisor immediately so he or 
she may plan the department’s work with as little disruption as possible.     

In accordance with State law, employees who serve on a jury will be compensated at the rate of 
fifty dollars ($50.00) per day for the first three days of jury service.  Employees who are released 

37



from jury service before the end of their regularly scheduled shift or who are not asked to serve on 

An employee served with a summons to jury duty must inform his/her supervisor by the 
next regular work day and provide a copy of the summons.   Employees will receive leave 
for jury duty.  An employee who is called to perform jury duty will receive their regular 
compensation for any regularly scheduled working hours spent in the actual performance 
of such service.  However, if an employee is scheduled to work a night shift on the same 
day the employee serves on a jury, the employee will be granted leaved from work for the 
entire day and will receive their regular compensation for the hours they would have 
worked on the night shift.  Employees shall remit to the Airport any pay (excluding expense 
reimbursement) received from the government for jury duty that covers the same period 
for which the employee is receiving pay from the Airport.   The Airport’s obligation to pay 
compensation while an employee is on jury duty is conditioned on the employee providing 
the Airport with a jury service certificate from the Court confirming that the employee was 
on jury duty for that period.  Except as otherwise provided herein, employees are expected 
to return to work on any day or portion of day they are released from jury duty.   

 

 

Witness Duty:  If you receive a subpoena to appear in court, please notify your supervisor 
immediately.  You are expected to return to work as soon as your service as a witness is completed.  

Voting:  If you would like to vote in a public election, but do not have sufficient time to vote during 
non-work hours, you may arrange to take time off from work with pay to vote.  To receive time 
off for voting, you must obtain advance approval from your supervisor and must take the time off 
to vote either at the beginning or end of your work shift.  The Grand Junction Regional Airport 
reserves the right to request a copy of your voter’s receipt following any time off to vote.   

 FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE 
To the extent that the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) applies, eligible employees may 
receive a total of 12 workweeks of unpaid leave during any 12-month period. This Act provides 
for leave in connection with incapacity due to pregnancy, prenatal medical care or childbirth; the 
care of the employee’s child after birth or placement for adoption or foster care; the care of a child, 
spouse, as that term is defined by the FMLAA, or parent who has a serious health condition; or 
serious health condition of the employee that makes the employee unable to perform the 
employee’s job. 
 
For purposes of this policy, a serious health condition is an illness, injury, impairment, or physical 
or mental condition that involves either: 
 
1)  An overnight stay in a medical care facility, OR 
 
2)  Continuing treatment by a health care provider for a condition that either prevents the employee 
from performing the functions of the employee’s job, or prevents a qualified family member from 
participating in school or other daily activities. 

38



 
Subject to certain conditions, the continuing treatment requirement may be met by a period of 
incapacity of more than 3 consecutive full calendar days combined with at least two visits to a 
health care provider or one visit and a regimen of continuing treatment, or incapacity due to 
pregnancy, or incapacity due to a chronic condition. Other conditions may meet the definition of 
continuing treatment. 
 
Military Caregiver Leave 
Military caregiver leave is available to care for a “covered servicemember” with a “serious injury 
or illness” as those terms are defined by the FMLA. Eligible employees may take up to 26 weeks 
of leave to care for a covered service member during a single 12-month period.  FMLA leave 
already taken for other FMLA circumstances will be deducted from the total 26 weeks available 
for military caregiver leave. 
 
Eligible employees with a spouse, child, or parent on covered active duty or called to covered 
active duty status may also use their 12-week FMLA leave entitlement to address certain qualifying 
exigencies as set forth in the FMLA. 
 
Eligibility and Terms of Leave 
An employee is eligible for family leave if he/she has been employed by the Airport for at least 12 
months and has worked at least 1,250 hours during the 12-month period preceding the requested 
leave. Leave will consist of accumulated paid leave and leave without pay. 
 
Intermittent leave or leave on a reduced leave schedule may be approved to coincide with a health 
treatment plan or other appropriate requirements for an individual employee, spouse, parent, or 
child. Such intermittent leave must be determined to be medically necessary by a health care 
provider. Leave due to qualifying exigencies may also be taken on an intermittent basis.  
Employees taking approved intermittent leave or reduced schedule leave may be required to 
temporarily transfer to another job with equivalent pay and benefits that better accommodates that 
type of leave. 
 
When necessary FMLA leave is foreseeable, the employee must provide the Airport with at least 
30 days’ notice before the date the leave begins.  If the event requires leave to begin in less than 
30 days, the employee must provide such notice as is practicable and make a reasonable effort to 
schedule the treatment to avoid unduly disrupting Airport operations.  A family member of the 
employee may give the notice if the employee is unable to do so. 
 
Employees must provide sufficient information for the Airport to determine if the leave may qualify 
for FMLA protection and the anticipated timing and duration of the leave.  Employees must also 
inform the Airport if the requested leave is for a reason for which FMLA leave was previously 
taken or certified.  The Airport may also require that a request for FMLA leave be supported by a 
certification and periodic recertification supporting the need for leave.  If notification and 
appropriate certification are not provided in a timely manner, approval of leave may be denied. 
 
The Airport will inform employees requesting leave whether they are eligible under FMLA.  If 
they are, the notice will specify any additional information required.  If they are not eligible, the 
Airport will provide the reason for the ineligibility. The Airport will also inform employees if 

39



leave will be designated as FMLA protected and the amount of leave counted against the 
employee’s leave entitlement. If the Airport determines that the leave is not FMLA-protected, the 
Airport will notify the employee. 
 
The Airport will not interfere with, restrain, or deny the exercise of any right provided under 
FMLA.  The Airport will not discharge or discriminate against any person for opposing any 
practice made unlawful by FMLA or for their involvement in any proceeding under or relating to 
the FMLA. 
 
Most employees returning from FMLA leave shall be restored to the original or equivalent position 
with equivalent pay, benefits and other employment terms.  Certain highly compensated employees 
(key employees) may have limited reinstatement rights. 
 
The taking of FMLA leave will not result in the loss of any employment benefit accrued prior to 
the date on which the leave commenced. 
 
The Airport will maintain equivalent coverage and premium level under the Airport’s group health 
plan for the duration of an employee’s FMLA leave.  The Airport may recover any benefit 
premiums paid for the employee if the employee fails to return from leave, unless the failure to 
return from leave has resulted from a continuation of a serious health condition or other 
circumstances beyond the employee’s control.  If an employee is taking FMLA leave without pay, 
no other fringe benefits will continue to accrue nor will contributions to retirement plans continue 
during this period. 
 
If an employee fails to report to work promptly at the end of the medical leave, the Airport will 
assume that the employee has resigned. 

 

Leave Without Pay Not Covered by FMLA  

Leave without pay not covered by the FMLA may be granted in cases of emergency and/or when a leave 
of absence would not be contrary to the best interests of the Airport. Employees are required to exhaust 
accrued paid time off prior to taking unpaid leave under this section. A leave of absence may be granted 
only upon written request by an employee who presents the reason for the leave.  

 
A request for a leave of absence without pay may be granted by the Executive Director, at his/her sole 
discretion, depending on the merits of the individual case. 

If approved, an employee may work a modified schedule while taking periods of leave without pay. In 
this circumstance, the employee will accrue personal time off based on the number of hours actually 
worked. 

If an employee is taking leave without pay, the following conditions will apply: 

a. The Airport may fill a position formerly held by an employee on leave 
without pay. 

40



b. Fringe benefits shall not accrue during a period of leave without pay, nor 
will the Airport make any contributions during such period for retirement or 
group insurance programs. However, the employee may participate in the 
group insurance programs during such period, provided the employee 
deposits in advance with the Airport the amounts necessary to cover the 
total cost of the premiums. Computation of service, for pension purposes 
other benefit plans, and the effect of leave without pay will be determined 
in accordance with the provisions of the applicable plan. 

c. The Airport may make reasonable efforts to reinstate the employee to the 
same position previously occupied or to a similar position following a leave 
of absence. The Airport, however, cannot guarantee that the same position 
or a similar position will be available at the time an employee desires to 
return to work. 

d. In the event an employee has been granted leave without pay and the 
Airport decides to fill the position while the employee is on leave, the 
employee will be given written notice of the Airport’s decision and the 
option to return to work on a designated date. The designated return to 
work date shall be no less than two (2) weeks after the date of the notice. 
This notice will be sent via first class mail to the last official address provided 
by the employee. The employee shall have one week from the date of the 
notice to advise the Airport whether he or she will return to work on the 
designated date. If the employee fails to respond timely or advises the 
Airport that he or she will not return to work on the designated date, the 
employee shall be deemed to have resigned from his or her employment 
with the Airport. The resignation shall be effective the date the employee 
advises the Airport of his or her intent not to return to work or ten days after 
the date of the notice, whichever occurs first. 

 

Medical Leave Of Absence  

Grand Junction Regional Airport is not subject to the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act.  
However, we have established the following medical leave policy for our employees:  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Brother  
Child  
Father  
Father-in-law  
Mother  
Mother-in-law  
Sister          

  
  
  
  
  
  

Spouse  
Stepbrother  
Stepchild  
Stepfather  
Stepmother  
Stepsister  

  
Full-time employees who have been with the Grand Junction Regional Airport for one (1) year are 
eligible for unpaid leaves of absence for up to three (3) months for medical reasons.  Medical 
reasons may include illness, injury, medical and surgical procedures, and related medical 
conditions.  Leaves for female employees with disabilities due to pregnancy and childbirth are 

41



available for up to four (4) months and are available regardless of whether they have been 
employed for one year.    

Employees must request a leave of absence if they will be unable to work for medical reasons for 
a period in excess of five (5) consecutive days.  Such requests are subject to management approval 
and must be made as soon as possible.  Each request must be accompanied by a certification from 
the employee’s treating physician or Grand Junction Regional Airport approved physician, which 
is acceptable to the Grand Junction Regional Airport, which indicates that the employee is unable 
to return to work.  The Grand Junction Regional Airport reserves the right to have employees on a 
medical leave of absence examined by a physician of the Grand Junction Regional Airport’s 
choice.  In no event may an employee’s total medical leave of absence exceed three (3) months in 
any twelve-month period, except for females requesting leave for disabilities due to pregnancy or 
childbirth.  The Grand Junction Regional Airport may require periodic physician’s verification of 
the employee’s inability to work.  Misrepresenting the reason for applying for a leave of absence 
may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination.  

Upon the employee’s return from a medical leave of absence, we will attempt to return the 
employee to his or her regular job if it is available.  If it is not available, the employee will be 
placed in a similar job for which the employee is deemed by management to be qualified if such a 
job is available.  If no jobs are available at the time, the returning employee will be given 
preferential consideration for any position for which he or she applies and for which he or she is 
deemed by management to be qualified.  A returning employee will be given such preferential 
consideration for a period of sixty (60) days following his or her notifying the Grand Junction 
Regional Airport in writing that he or she is ready and able to return to work.  

Failure to report to work as scheduled following a leave of absence can result in dismissal.  
Employees who are out on leaves of absence will not accrue paid time off or sick leave after thirty 
(30) days of leave.  

You should speak directly with the Administration Department prior to taking a leave to ensure 
your understanding of all of your obligations to the Grand Junction Regional Airport while on 
leave, such as reporting and verification obligations. Failure to comply with Grand Junction 
Regional Airport policy may substantially affect your ability to return to work.  

Bereavement Leave  

Our full-time employees are eligible to receive up to three (3) days of unpaid bereavement leave 
in the event they miss regularly scheduled work days due to the death or funeral of a member of 
the employee’s immediate family.    

For the purpose of this policy, immediate family is defined as:  

42



 Brother  
 Child  
 Father  
 Father-in-law  Mother  
 Mother-in-law  
 Sister  

 Spouse  
 Stepbrother  
 Stepchild  
 Stepfather  
 Stepmother  
 Stepsister  

An employee who is notified of a death in his or her immediate family while at work will be paid 
for the remainder of the scheduled hours that day. The three-day eligibility for unpaid bereavement 
leave will not commence until the next regularly scheduled work day which is lost.  All time off 
in connection with the death of an immediate family member, as defined above, should be 
scheduled with your supervisor.  

An employee may use any available earned unused paid time off in lieu of this unpaid bereavement 
leave.  

Military Leave Of Absence  

Employees who require time off from work to fulfill military duties will be treated in accordance 
with applicable requirements of State and Federal laws.  You are expected to notify the Grand 
Junction Regional Airport of upcoming military duty by providing your supervisor with a copy of 
your orders as soon as possible.  In addition, spouses and registered domestic partners of military 
personnel who are home on leave during a period of military deployment may be qualified for 10 
days of unpaid leave.  

Volunteer Firefighter Leave  

Unpaid volunteer firefighter leave is available to any employee who is a recognized voluntary 
firefighter. If you are a voluntary firefighter, we encourage you to provide documentation of your 
status to your manager as soon as possible. An employee who is a volunteer firefighter will not be 
disciplined for failing to report to work because of an emergency summons if the employee 
provides a written Statement from the chief of the fire department that the employee’s absence was 
due to the response. An employee who is a volunteer firefighter will not be disciplined for leaving 
work to respond to an emergency summons if the employee is not essential to the operation of 
daily business, the employee has previously received written documentation from the fire chief 
notifying the employer of the employee’s status as a volunteer firefighter, the emergency is within 
the response area of the employee’s fire department and is of such magnitude that the emergency 
summons issued requires all firefighters to respond, and the employee later provides 
documentation from the fire chief verifying the time, date, and duration of the employee’s 
response.   

43



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC:  Colorado Open Records Act (CORA) Request Policy 

PURPOSE: Information ☒ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the Board adopt Colorado Open Records Act 
(CORA) Request Policy 

LAST ACTION: None. 

DISCUSSION: The Airport Authority has created a single policy outlining the 
process of requesting materials under the Colorado Open Records 
Act. 

FISCAL IMPACT: None 

COMMUNICATION    
STRATEGY: 

None 

ATTACHMENTS: Colorado Open Records Act (CORA) Request Policy 

STAFF CONTACT: Mark Papko 
Email: mpapko@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8596 
 

 
 

44

mailto:mpapko@gjairport.com


COLORADO OPEN RECORDS ACT POLICY AND PROCEDURES 
GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT 

GRAND JUNCTION, COLORADO 
 

I. Intent 

It is the policy of the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority (“GJRAA”) that all public records 
shall be open for inspection by any person at reasonable times, except as provided by the Colorado 
Open Records Act §24-72-201, et seq., C.R.S. (the “Act”) or by other laws or court order.  In the 
event the Act is amended, this Policy will be deemed amended to be consistent with the amended 
Act. 

Pursuant to the Act, this Policy sets forth GJRAA rules, regulations and policies that are reasonably 
necessary for the protection of public records, for the prevention of unnecessary interference with 
the regular performance of duties by employees of the GJRAA, and for enabling timely access to 
public records of the GJRAA that are subject to disclosure under the Act. 

This Policy does not apply to informal requests for information or records that are not specifically 
submitted pursuant to the Act.   

II. Definitions 

The definitions provided in §24-72-202, C.R.S., as amended from time to time, shall apply in 
and to this Policy unless the context clearly requires a different meaning.  

III. Procedures 
 

A. The Clerk to the Board (the “Clerk”) is the official custodian of all public records 
maintained by the GJRAA.  The Clerk will consult and coordinate with GJRAA’s 
General Counsel in processing and responding to requests for public records under 
the Act.   

 
B. Requests for public records must be made in writing and may be mailed, emailed 

or sent via facsimile.  
 
C. Requests should be specific as to the records sought and the relevant dates.  

Requests for correspondence must identify the parties to the correspondence. For 
any request that is vague or broadly stated the Clerk may contact the party making 
the request in an attempt to clarify and narrow the request.   

 
D. If a requesting party is unable to identify the specific document(s) sought, the 

requesting party is encouraged to contact the Clerk in advance of submitting the 
request for assistance in providing the requisite specificity. 

 
E. When feasible, the GJRAA will endeavor to provide electronic copies or files to a 

requesting party if such alternative is significantly less burdensome to provide than 
paper records.  When responsible records cannot be easily or cost-effectively 

45



provided electronically, the Clerk will work with the requester to schedule a time 
during GJRAA’s business hours to inspect the records in person.   

 
F. The Act does not guarantee access to public records in a specific format.  When the 

production or review of records in a specific format would interfere with the regular 
discharge of the Clerk’s duties or levy an undue burden on the GJRAA, the Clerk 
will determine the appropriate format for the records to be produced.  The GJRAA 
may require that members of the public only be allowed to review copies of 
documents when the Clerk determines that allowing access to originals could 
interfere with the regular discharge of duties of the GJRAA or its staff or production 
of original records could jeopardize the condition of the records.   

 
G. The Clerk shall maintain a master log of all records requests under the Act. 
 

IV. Time for Response to Public Records Requests 
 
A. The normal time for production of documents by the GJRAA shall be three (3) 

working days.  Such period shall begin on the first business day after the request is 
received.  The date that a written request is received by the Clerk will constitute the 
date of receipt.  The date on which the Clerk provides confirmation and approval 
of receipt of an e-mailed public records request shall be constitute the date of receipt 
of the e-mailed request.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, requests received outside 
of normal business hours, on holidays, and over weekends will be deemed received 
no earlier than the next business day. 

 
B. The period within which the Clerk must make the requested documents available 

for review may be extended for an additional seven working days if the Clerk 
determines that one of the extenuating circumstances described in §24-72-
203(3)(b)(I) – (III) of the Act exists.  A finding by the Clerk that an extenuating 
circumstance exists shall be provided to the requesting party in writing within the 
first three working days after receipt of the party’s public records request.   

 
C. If the public records requested are not in the custody or control of the Clerk, the 

Clerk shall immediately notify the person requesting the records of this fact.  Such 
fact shall be communicated in writing if written communications are requested by 
the person making the public records request.  Any such notification by the 
custodian shall state in detail to the best of the Clerk’s knowledge and belief the 
reason for the absence of the records from the Clerk’s custody or control, the 
location of the records if known, and who has custody or control of the records.  

 
D. If the public records requested are in active use or are in storage and, therefore, are 

not immediately available, this fact shall be immediately communicated by the 
Clerk to the person requesting the records.  Such fact shall be communicated in 
writing if written communications are requested by the person making the public 
records request. 

 

46



E. When the Clerk receives a public records request, the Clerk will provide a cost 
estimate to the requester.  The cost estimate will include the estimated time needed 
to complete the research, retrieval, copying, redaction, assembly, transmission and 
any other activities.   

 
F. If the estimated cost of complying with the public records request is $50.00 or more, 

the Clerk will require the person making the request to pay a deposit toward the 
GJRAA’s estimated cost of compliance prior to the Clerk compiling the records 
and fulfilling the request.  The Clerk will return any amount of the deposit in excess 
of the actual costs, and shall collect any amount by which the actual costs exceed 
the amount deposited.  No copies shall be released until all amounts due have been 
paid. 

 
G. No work to complete the request will begin until the requester approves the cost 

estimate and pays the deposit, if applicable.  The timeframe the Clerk has to 
complete the request will be tolled during the time period between notification to 
the requester and approval and payment of the deposit by the requester. 

 
V. Schedule of Fees 

 
A. In all cases in which a person has the right to inspect a public record, the person 

may request a copy, printout, or photograph of the record. The Clerk shall furnish 
a copy, printout, or photograph of the record and shall charge 0.25 per page of 
material.  In the event production of a copy of the record exceeds the costs set forth 
in this section, including copies made utilizing an outside source, the party making 
the request will be charged the actual cost to provide the copy. 
 

B. The Clerk shall charge to the person making the public records request $20 per hour 
(15 minute increments) of staff time spent on research and retrieval services in 
excess of one hour.  There shall be no charge for the first hour of time for research 
and retrieval of records.  If more than one staff member is involved with a records 
request, each person’s time shall be combined to reflect the actual amount of 
research time.  Such research and retrieval services includes identification and 
segregation of documents that need not be disclosed.   
 

VI. Closure of Request 
 
A public records request is deemed closed by the GJRAA under any of the following 
scenarios: 
 
A. After records made available for inspection have been inspected by the party 

making the request and no copies of these records have been requested; 
 

B. After records made available for inspection have been inspected by the party 
making the request and requested copies have been provided consistent with this 
Policy; or 

47



 
C. After records have been made available for inspection for ten business days and the 

requestor has (i) failed to make arrangements for inspection; (ii) failed actually to 
inspect the records after arrangements have been made; or (iii) failed to provide 
advance payment as required. 

 
D. A party making a request whose request has been closed under this section and who 

still wishes to inspect the same records must submit a new request. 

48



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Executive Director Board Membership 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board approval of Executive Director membership on the Hilltop 
Community Resources Board of Directors. 

LAST ACTION:  

DISCUSSION: Angela Padalecki has been selected to the Hilltop Board for a three year 
term beginning fall 2018. The Executive Director Contract requires Airport 
Authority Board concurrence for all outside Board memberships. 

REVIEWED BY: n/a 
FISCAL IMPACT: n/a  

COMMUNICATION 
STRATEGY: 

None. 

ATTACHMENTS: none  

STAFFCONTACT: Angela Padalecki 

 

 



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC:  Tenant sublease renewal: Barnabas Counseling Center 
PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends that the Board approve the renewal of the non-
aeronautical ground sublease between Sky Adventures, LLC and 
Barnabas Counseling Center. 
 

LAST ACTION: N/A 

DISCUSSION: The above non-aeronautical tenant wants to renew their sublease 
office space out of the Sky Adventures building from Sky 
Adventures, LLC. This renewal has to go to the board because it’s 
a non-aeronautical lease. This tenant occupies less than 2% of the 
sky adventures building and have to be renewed annually. 

FISCAL IMPACT: None 

COMMUNICATION    
STRATEGY: 

N/A 

ATTACHMENTS:  First page of each renewal agreement with Sky Adventures; 
Tenants-percentage of building. 

STAFF CONTACT: Chance Ballegeer 
Airport Security Coordinator 
Email: cballegeer@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8586 
 

 
  

49



50



 

51



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Information Technology Maintenance Contract 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board approval of the option to renew the contract with Sequent Information 
Systems for an additional year.  

LAST ACTION: Board approved the option to renew the contract with Sequent Information 
Systems for an additional year during the August 2017 Board Meeting.  

DISCUSSION: Sequent Information Systems is extremely familiar with our network which 
has been of great value to the Airport during this period.  Sequent Information 
Systems continues to provide good Information Technology support. The 
original contract from 2014 had a term of three years, with two, one year 
renewal options not to exceed a total of five years. Over the last four years of 
the contract the Airport’s network has grown significantly and the service 
provided by Sequent has remained at a high level. This would be the last 
renewal option for this contract and solicitation for a new RFP would take 
place in 2019. 

FISCAL IMPACT: Reoccurring Monthly Expense (Maintenance / Email/ Internet/ Phone/ 
Electronic Recycling) $4,474.30 
Consultation $110.00 per hour, as needed. 

 

REVIEWED BY: Staff  

COMMUNICATION 
STRATEGY: 

None. 

ATTACHMENTS: Original Contract 

STAFFCONTACT: Ben Peck 
bpeck@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8589 

 

 

52

mailto:bpeck@gjairport.com


53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Loading Bridge Ball Screw Replacement 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board authorize the Executive Director to award the work to Elite Terminal 
Services, authorize the payment of funds for the acquisition of parts prior to 
the work commencing, and authorize the payment of the remaining balance 
once the work has been completed.     

LAST ACTION: None 

DISCUSSION: During a repair of the east loading bridge in 2017 it was recommended that 
the ball screws be replaced. This replacement was budgeted for in the 2018 
budget with an amount of $20,000. A second opinion was obtained from a 
technician performing the annual maintenance on the bridge. The technician 
concurred that the ball screws are in need of replacement.  
 
Staff solicited quotations from Ameribridge, Elite Terminal Services, and 
JBT. Two quotations were received and can be found in the attached Price 
Comparison for Purchases of Goods, Materials, Supplies & General Services. 

FISCAL IMPACT: Total $19,152.00  

REVIEWED BY: Staff   

COMMUNICATION 
STRATEGY: 

None. 

ATTACHMENTS: Price Comparison for Purchases of Goods, Materials, Supplies & General 
Services 

STAFFCONTACT: Ben Peck 
bpeck@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8589 

 

 

65

mailto:bpeck@gjairport.com


66



67



68



69



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Runway Rubber Removal, Airfield Painting, and Runway Friction Testing 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board authorize the Executive Director to award the described work to 
Straight Stripe and authorize the payment of the balance once the work has 
been completed.     

LAST ACTION: None 

DISCUSSION: The airfield is in need of rubber removal, painted centerline stripes, and 
designation numbers on RWY 11/29.  Before and after work is completed 
friction runs will be conducted for quality assurance/FAA Advisory Circular 
guidelines. 
 
Reaching out to three different companies: 
Hi-Lite – No quote based off of internal scheduling 
Kolby Striping – No response 
Straight Stripe – Quote attached. 
 
Staff recommends work be awarded to Straight Stripe.  Quotation provided 
seems fair and reasonable. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: Total $41,722.00  

REVIEWED BY: Staff – Mark Papko  

COMMUNICATION 
STRATEGY: 

None. 

ATTACHMENTS: Straight Stripe quotation   

STAFFCONTACT: Mark Papko 
mpapko@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8596 

 

 

70

mailto:mpapko@gjairport.com


1812 W Sunset Blvd #1-525

St George, UT 84770

O: 435-656-0930 F: 435-634-0580 A Certified DBE Company: UT, AZ, CA, ID, MT, NV, WY

2828 Walker Field Dr.
Grand Junction, Colorado 81506

Phone:
Fax / Email: 970-812-2716   Mpapko@gjairport.com

U of M Total

Each 4,000.00$    

Each 4,000.00$    

SF 18,000.00$    

SF 9,472.00$    

Lump Sum 4,500.00$    

39,972.00$  

Signature:

Requested By:
Date Submitted: 6/19/2018

CO License # 20101637509

Straight Stripe Painting, Inc.®

Contractor: Grand Junction Airport
Estimate # 06797Address:

Project Location: Grand Junction, Colorado Cell: 435-669-6748

DBW: N/A jake@straightstripe.com

Requested By: Mark Papko Estimate By:

Project Name: Grand Junction Airport - Rubber Removal, restripe and Friction Testing J. Jake Adams

Mobilization - Rubber Removal 1 4,000.00$     

Mobilization - Permanent Paint 1 4,000.00$     

Item # Item Description Quantity Unit Price

Surface Prep- Runway 11-29

Runway Friction Testing11-29

Rubber Removal ( 40' x 6000' ) - 3,000' x 40' on both ends of Runway 240,000 0.075$    

Runway and Taxiway Marking ( Permanent Paint - 1 application ) 29,600 0.32$    

Friction readings 40 MPH & 60 MPH 1 4,500.00$     

NOTE: Straight Stripe Painting is NOT responsible for surface prep - cleaning / 
sweeping and or Traffic Control / NOTAM

NOTE: Grand Junction Airport is to provide Runway Lighted X's for SSP to use.

Specifications:

Any mobilization estimated shall be charged for each time our company is called to perform labor and services on the project, and is NOT an estimate for 
mobilization for the entire project.  Any item estimated at a “daily” rate will be charged per day at the unit price listed.  Any item estimated as “unknown” will 
be charged at the unit price listed multiplied by the actual labor, services, and/or materials provided.  All paint/markings, sign & delineators to be applied 
under this estimate will be billed at the unit price listed above multiplied by the actual services applied at the project at your request.   
Exclusions:

This estimate does NOT include Runway Lighted X's or NOTAM. 

This estimate is valid for a period of 30 days from the date of this estimate.  Any invoice submitted by our

company shall be due 30 days after the date of such invoice.  Any invoice not paid within the 30 day period Total
will accrue interest at a rate of 21% per annum until paid in full.  Furthermore, in the event collection activities become necessary, our company shall be entitled to recover 

all of its costs incurred in the collection of the amounts due and owing under this estimate, including but not limited to attorneys’ fees and court costs.

Customer Name:

(print name)

approx. 29,600 SF ; includes both white and black pavement marking paint on 
centerline skips and 11-29 numbers.

71

mailto:jake@straightstripe.com
mailto:jake@straightstripe.com
mailto:jake@straightstripe.com
mailto:jake@straightstripe.com
mpapko
Typewritten Text
Movement/Non-Movement Line Painting

mpapko
Typewritten Text
3,500

mpapko
Typewritten Text
SF

mpapko
Typewritten Text
$            0.50

mpapko
Typewritten Text
$          1,750.00

EWT
Text Box
               Total          $41,722 



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC:  FAA Grant Offers and Co-Sponsorship Agreements  

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends Board authorization to execute the FAA Grant 
Offers and the Co-Sponsor Agreements. 

LAST ACTION: The Board approved the Airport’s AIP grant applications for these 
projects. 

DISCUSSION: The Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority (Authority) began a 
multi-year program in 2016 to relocate the primary runway. The 
relocation is intended to minimize impacts to community air service 
while modernizing the runway, originally constructed in 1958. The 
projects are listed on the Authority’s approved Airport Layout Plan 
and Capital Improvement Plan.  

These grants are associated with the Remote Transmitter/Receiver 
Relocation and the 27 1/4Rd Relocation construction projects. 

REVIEWED BY: Staff and legal counsel have reviewed these grants and co-sponsor 
agreements and recommend the documents be executed. 

FISCAL IMPACT: Federal AIP Grants - $ 5,191,494* 
State Grant - $150,000 
GJRA Match - $426,834 budgeted amount 
Total - $5,768,328 
*subject to the availability of Federal funds 

ATTACHMENTS: 1. Grant Offer 3-08-0027-057-2018 
2. Grant Offer 3-08-0027-058-2018 
3. City of Grand Junction Co-Sponsorship Agreement 
4. Mesa County Co-Sponsorship Agreement 

STAFF CONTACT: Eric Trinklein 
etrinklein@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8597 

 

72

mailto:etrinklein@gjairport.com


73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



SUPPLEMENTAL CO-SPONSORSHIP AGREEMENT 
 
 

 This Supplemental Co-Sponsorship Agreement is entered into and effective this _____ day 
of _______________, 2018, by and between the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 
(“Airport Authority”), and the City of Grand Junction (City). 
 

RECITALS 
 

A.  The Airport Authority is a political subdivision of the State of Colorado, organized 
pursuant to Section 41-3-101 et seq., C.R.S.  The Airport Authority is a separate and distinct 
entity from the City. 
 

B.  The Airport Authority is the owner and operator of the Grand Junction Regional 
Airport, located in Grand Junction, Colorado (“Airport”). 

 
C.  Pursuant to the Title 49, U.S.C., Subtitle VII, Part B, as amended, the Airport 

Authority has applied for monies from the Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”), for the 
construction of certain improvements upon the Airport, pursuant to the terms, plans and 
specifications set forth in AIP Grant No. 3-08-0027-057-2018, and 3-08-0027-058-2018 
(“Projects”). 

 
D.  The FAA is willing to provide $5,191,494 toward the estimated costs of the Projects, 

provided the City of Grand Junction and Mesa County execute the Grant Agreements 
as co-sponsors with the Airport Authority.  The FAA is insisting that the City and 
County execute the Grant Agreements as co-sponsors for two primary reasons.  First, 
the City and County have taxing authority, whereas the Airport Authority does not; 
accordingly, the FAA is insisting that the City and County execute the Grant 
Agreement so that public entities with taxing authority are liable for the financial 
commitments required of the Sponsor under the Grant Agreements, should the 
Airport Authority not be able to satisfy said financial commitments out of the net 
revenues generated by the operation of the Airport.  In addition, the City and County 
have jurisdiction over the zoning and land use regulations of the real property 
surrounding the Airport, whereas the Airport Authority does not enjoy such zoning 
and land use regulatory authority.  By their execution of the Grant Agreements, the 
City and County would be warranting to the FAA that the proposed improvements are 
consistent with their respective plans for the development of the area surrounding the 
Airport, and that they will take appropriate actions, including the adoption of zoning 
laws, to restrict the use of land surrounding the Airport to activities and purposes 
compatible with normal Airport operations. 

 
E.  The City is willing to execute the Grant Agreement, as a co-sponsor, pursuant to the 

FAA’s request, subject to the terms and conditions of this Supplemental Co-
Sponsorship Agreement between the City and Airport Authority.  

 
           Therefore, in consideration of the above Recitals and the mutual promises and 
representations set forth below, the City and Airport Authority hereby agree as follows: 

91



AGREEMENT 
 

1.   By its execution of this Agreement, the City hereby agrees to execute the Grant 
Agreements, as a co-sponsor, pursuant to the FAA’s request. 

 
2.  In consideration of the City’s execution of the Grant Agreement, as co-sponsor, the 

Airport Authority hereby agrees to hold the City, its officers, employees, and agents, 
harmless from, and to indemnify the City, its officers, employees, and agents for: 

 
(a)  Any and all claims, lawsuits, damages, or liabilities, including reasonable 

attorney’s fees and court costs, which at any time may be or are stated, asserted, or made 
against the City, its officers, employees, or agents, by the FAA or any other third party 
whomsoever, in any way arising out of, or related under the Grant Agreements, or the 
prosecution of the Projects contemplated by the Grant Agreements, regardless of whether 
said claims are frivolous or groundless, other than claims related to the City’s covenant 
to take appropriate action, including the adoption of zoning laws, to restrict the use of 
land surrounding the Airport, over which the City has regulatory jurisdiction, to activities 
and purposes compatible with normal Airport operations, set forth in paragraph 21 of the 
Assurances incorporated by reference into the Grant Agreements (“Assurances”); and 

 
(b)  The failure of the Airport Authority, or any of the Airport Authority’s officers, 

agents, employees, or contractors, to comply in any respect with any of the requirements, 
obligations or duties imposed on the Sponsor by the Grant Agreements, or reasonably 
related to or inferred there from, other than the Sponsor’s zoning and land use obligations 
under Paragraph 21 of the Assurances, which are the City’s responsibility for lands 
surrounding the Airport over which it has regulatory jurisdiction. 

 
3.   By its execution of this Agreement, the Airport Authority hereby agrees to comply 

with each and every requirement of the Sponsor, set forth in the Grant Agreements, or 
reasonably required in connection therewith, other than the zoning and land use 
requirements set forth in paragraph 21 of the Assurances, in recognition of the fact 
that the Airport Authority does not have the power to effect the zoning and land use 
regulations required by said paragraph. 
 

4. By its execution of this Agreement and the Grant Agreement, the City agrees to 
comply with the zoning and land use requirements of paragraph 21 of the Assurances, 
with respect to all lands surrounding the Airport that are subject to the City’s 
regulatory jurisdiction.  The City also hereby warrants and represents that, in 
accordance with paragraph 6 of the Special Assurances; the Projects contemplated by 
the Grant Agreements are consistent with present plans of the City for the 
development of the area surrounding the Airport. 

 
5. The parties hereby warrant and represent that, by the City’s execution of the Grant 

Agreements, as a co-sponsor, pursuant to the FAA’s request, the City is not a co-
owner, agent, partner, joint venture, or representative of the Airport Authority in the 
ownership, management or administration of the Airport, and the Airport Authority 
is, and remains, the sole owner of the Airport, and solely responsible for the operation 
and management of the Airport. 

 
 

92



 Done and entered into on the date first set forth above. 
 
 GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT 

AUTHORITY 
 
 
 By __________________________________________ 
  Authorized Representative  
 
 
 CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION 
 
 
 By __________________________________________ 
  Authorized Representative 

93



SUPPLEMENTAL CO-SPONSORSHIP AGREEMENT 
 
 

 This Supplemental Co-Sponsorship Agreement is entered into and effective this _____ day 
of _______________, 2018, by and between the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 
(“Airport Authority”), and the Mesa County (County). 
 

RECITALS 
 

A.  The Airport Authority is a political subdivision of the State of Colorado, organized 
pursuant to Section 41-3-101 et seq., C.R.S.  The Airport Authority is a separate and distinct 
entity from the County. 
 

B.  The Airport Authority is the owner and operator of the Grand Junction Regional 
Airport, located in Grand Junction, Colorado (“Airport”). 

 
C.  Pursuant to the Title 49, U.S.C., Subtitle VII, Part B, as amended, the Airport 

Authority has applied for monies from the Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”), for the 
construction of certain improvements upon the Airport, pursuant to the terms, plans and 
specifications set forth in AIP Grant No. 3-08-0027-057-2018, and 3-08-0027-058-2018 
(“Projects”). 

 
D.  The FAA is willing to provide $5,191,494 toward the estimated costs of the Projects, 

provided the City of Grand Junction and Mesa County execute the Grant Agreements 
as co-sponsors with the Airport Authority.  The FAA is insisting that the City and 
County execute the Grant Agreements as co-sponsors for two primary reasons.  First, 
the City and County have taxing authority, whereas the Airport Authority does not; 
accordingly, the FAA is insisting that the City and County execute the Grant 
Agreement so that public entities with taxing authority are liable for the financial 
commitments required of the Sponsor under the Grant Agreements, should the 
Airport Authority not be able to satisfy said financial commitments out of the net 
revenues generated by the operation of the Airport.  In addition, the City and County 
have jurisdiction over the zoning and land use regulations of the real property 
surrounding the Airport, whereas the Airport Authority does not enjoy such zoning 
and land use regulatory authority.  By their execution of the Grant Agreements, the 
City and County would be warranting to the FAA that the proposed improvements are 
consistent with their respective plans for the development of the area surrounding the 
Airport, and that they will take appropriate actions, including the adoption of zoning 
laws, to restrict the use of land surrounding the Airport to activities and purposes 
compatible with normal Airport operations. 

 
E.  The County is willing to execute the Grant Agreement, as a co-sponsor, pursuant to 

the FAA’s request, subject to the terms and conditions of this Supplemental Co-
Sponsorship Agreement between the County and Airport Authority.  

 
           Therefore, in consideration of the above Recitals and the mutual promises and 
representations set forth below, the County and Airport Authority hereby agree as follows: 

94



AGREEMENT 
 

1.   By its execution of this Agreement, the County hereby agrees to execute the Grant 
Agreements, as a co-sponsor, pursuant to the FAA’s request. 

 
2.  In consideration of the County’s execution of the Grant Agreement, as co-sponsor, 

the Airport Authority hereby agrees to hold the County, its officers, employees, and 
agents, harmless from, and to indemnify the County, its officers, employees, and 
agents for: 

 
(a)  Any and all claims, lawsuits, damages, or liabilities, including reasonable 

attorney’s fees and court costs, which at any time may be or are stated, asserted, or made 
against the County, its officers, employees, or agents, by the FAA or any other third 
party whomsoever, in any way arising out of, or related under the Grant Agreements, or 
the prosecution of the Projects contemplated by the Grant Agreements, regardless of 
whether said claims are frivolous or groundless, other than claims related to the County’s 
covenant to take appropriate action, including the adoption of zoning laws, to restrict the 
use of land surrounding the Airport, over which the County has regulatory jurisdiction, 
to activities and purposes compatible with normal Airport operations, set forth in 
paragraph 21 of the Assurances incorporated by reference into the Grant Agreements 
(“Assurances”); and 

 
(b)  The failure of the Airport Authority, or any of the Airport Authority’s officers, 

agents, employees, or contractors, to comply in any respect with any of the requirements, 
obligations or duties imposed on the Sponsor by the Grant Agreements, or reasonably 
related to or inferred there from, other than the Sponsor’s zoning and land use obligations 
under Paragraph 21 of the Assurances, which are the County’s responsibility for lands 
surrounding the Airport over which it has regulatory jurisdiction. 

 
3.   By its execution of this Agreement, the Airport Authority hereby agrees to comply 

with each and every requirement of the Sponsor, set forth in the Grant Agreements, or 
reasonably required in connection therewith, other than the zoning and land use 
requirements set forth in paragraph 21 of the Assurances, in recognition of the fact 
that the Airport Authority does not have the power to effect the zoning and land use 
regulations required by said paragraph. 
 

4. By its execution of this Agreement and the Grant Agreement, the County agrees to 
comply with the zoning and land use requirements of paragraph 21 of the Assurances, 
with respect to all lands surrounding the Airport that are subject to the County 
regulatory jurisdiction.  The County also hereby warrants and represents that, in 
accordance with paragraph 6 of the Special Assurances; the Projects contemplated by 
the Grant Agreements are consistent with present plans of the County for the 
development of the area surrounding the Airport. 

 
5. The parties hereby warrant and represent that, by the County’s execution of the Grant 

Agreements, as a co-sponsor, pursuant to the FAA’s request, the County is not a co-
owner, agent, partner, joint venture, or representative of the Airport Authority in the 
ownership, management or administration of the Airport, and the Airport Authority 
is, and remains, the sole owner of the Airport, and solely responsible for the operation 
and management of the Airport. 

95



 
 
 Done and entered into on the date first set forth above. 
 
 GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT 

AUTHORITY 
 
 
 By __________________________________________ 
  Authorized Representative  
 
 
 MESA COUNTY 
 
 
 By __________________________________________ 
  Authorized Representative 

96



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: FAA Grant Application 3-08-0027-061-2018 
 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board approval of FAA Grant Application 3-08-0027-061-2018 

LAST ACTION: The Airport Improvement Program (AIP) is continually coordinated with 
FAA and CDOT Aeronautics. 

DISCUSSION: The projects to be accomplished for this year and every year going forward 
as per the CIP are an important part of providing a safe and efficient 
airfield/overall airport operation. Funding from this grant will be used to 
provide engineering services for the runway program for 2019. 
This grant will provide additional unanticipated FAA funding that will 
enhance the Airport’s ability to have construction ready projects. 
 

REVIEWED BY: Staff recommends the Board approve the submittal of the grant application. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

Funding Sources 
Federal - $1,350,000 
GJRA - $150,000 
Total - $1,500,000 

COMMUNICATION 
STRATEGY: 

Airport staff will give presentations to Grand Junction City Council and the 
Mesa County Board of County Commissioners prior to submitting the 
Application.   

ATTACHMENTS: AIP 3-08-0027-061-2018 Grant Application 
STAFF CONTACT: Eric Trinklein 

etrinklein@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8597 

 

97

mailto:etrinklein@gjairport.com


98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Pay Request-Runway 11/29 Replacement Project (Design Only)  

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board approve payment of Mead & Hunt Invoice No. 279916. 
 

LAST ACTION: Design only contract was executed June 22, 2017. 

DISCUSSION: This invoice is the progress billing for the Runway Design. Progress this 
period includes program management, grant administration, land 
acquisition, and permitting services for work completed through April 
30, 2018. 
 
Work completed this phase includes completion of a portion of Program 
Management and Permitting and Agency Coordination. Grant 
Administration and Land Acquisition are in the early stages of 
completion. 
 
This is part of the AIP grant program and we have been approved to be 
reimbursed for 90% of the expenses from FAA and 5% by CDOT 
Aeronautics. 
 

REVIEWED BY:  Staff has reviewed the invoice and concurs with the stated level of 
completion and recommends paying the invoice.  
 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

AIP 55 
FAA $72,375.76 
CDOT $ 4,020.87 
GJRA $ 4,020.89 budgeted dollars  
Total $ 80,417.52 

AIP 56 
FAA $ 76,876.90 
CDOT $ 4,270.93 
GJRA $ 4,270.95 budgeted dollars  
Total $ 85,418.78 

COMMUNICATION 
STRATEGY: 

None. 

ATTACHMENTS: Mead & Hunt Invoice No. 279440 
 

STAFFCONTACT: Eric Trinklein 
etrinklein@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8597 

 

 

177

mailto:etrinklein@gjairport.com


WORK SCOPE
 CONTRACT 

AMOUNT 
BILLED

THIS   

INVOICE

100 Scope Development $74,260.00 $74,260.00 $0.00

101 Program Validation $77,491.50 $77,491.50 $0.00

102 Project Management $867,334.30 $771,927.71 $60,713.42

105 Pre-Design Elements Runway Relocation $594,172.14 $582,288.70 $0.00

109 27 1/4 Road Relocation Design $656,803.50 $656,803.50 $19,704.10

$2,270,061.44 $2,162,771.41 $80,417.52

FAA $72,375.76

CDOT $4,020.87

GJT $4,020.89

103 Grant Administration $63,980.00 $8,747.50 $1,190.00

104 Land Acquisition and Coordination $177,939.10 $30,896.10 $630.00

106 Design Overall Runway Relocation 30% $881,153.15 $881,153.15 $0.00

107 Permitting and Agency Coordination $157,353.25 $110,312.53 $13,156.30

108 Remote Transmitter Receiver  Grading Package $175,482.80 $175,482.80 $0.00

110 Design Overall Runway Relocation 60% $640,386.15 $179,308.13 $70,442.48

$2,096,294.45 $1,385,900.21 $85,418.78

FAA $76,876.90

CDOT $4,270.93

GJT $4,270.95

$4,366,355.89 $3,548,671.62 $165,836.30Total DESIGN

Additional backup documentation available upon request

GJT RUNWAY DESIGN    6/15/2018

AIP 55

AIP 56

TOTAL AIP 56

TOTAL AIP 55

178



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Pay Request-Terminal Building Renovations  

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board approve payment of Mead & Hunt Invoice No. 279980 
 

LAST ACTION: Board executed design contract 8/18/17. 

DISCUSSION: This invoice is the progress billing for the terminal building 
renovations for work completed through May 31, 2018. 
 
Work completed this phase includes completion of a portion of 
Project Management, Schematic Design, Construction Documents, 
and Permit and Bid.  
 

REVIEWED BY: Staff has reviewed the invoice and concurs with the stated level of 
completion and recommends paying the invoice.  
 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

$23,987.35 – Budgeted dollars 
 

COMMUNICATION 
STRATEGY: 

None. 

ATTACHMENTS: Mead & Hunt Invoice No. 279980 

STAFFCONTACT: Eric Trinklein 
etrinklein@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8597 

 

 

179

mailto:etrinklein@gjairport.com


WORK SCOPE
 CONTRACT 

AMOUNT 
BILLED % THIS INVOICE

Mechanical 209,423.70$          202,497.68$       97% 10,631.41$      

Roof Replacement 32,577.02$            31,844.38$        98% 1,347.70$        

Escalator 37,230.88$            37,157.92$        100% -$                

Code Compliance Upgrades 79,115.62$            76,499.13$        97% 4,016.32$        

Electrical Power Supply 107,038.78$          103,498.83$       97% 7,991.92$        

Total 465,386.00$        451,497.94$     97% 23,987.35$     

Additional backup documentation available upon request

GJT TERMINAL IMPROVEMENTS 6/18/18

180



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Taxiway A Rehabilitation -Garver Invoice 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board approval of Garver Invoice No. 17081934-7 
 

LAST ACTION: GJRAA Board approved the Work Order at the December 2017 
Regular Meeting. 

DISCUSSION: The invoice includes work by Garver on the Taxiway A Rehab project 
design through June 28, 2018 as a progress billing.  
 
Work completed this phase includes the completion of a portion of the 
Final Design. No progress have been made for Bidding Services. 
 
This is part of the AIP grant program and will be reimbursed for 90% 
of the expenses.  

REVIEWED BY: Staff has reviewed the invoice and concurs with the stated level of 
completion and recommends paying the invoice. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

$13,326.12 FAA 
$1,480.68 GJRA-Budgeted Dollars 
$14,806.80 Total 

COMMUNICATION 
STRATEGY: 

N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: Garver Invoice No. 17081934-7 

STAFF CONTACT: Eric Trinklein 
etrinklein@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8597 

 

181



08 - Frisco 3010 Gaylord Parkway
Suite 190
Frisco, TX 75034

TEL 972.377.7480
FAX 972.377.8380
www.GarverUSA.com

 
 
Eric Trinklein
Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority Project No:  
800 Eagle Drive Invoice No:  
Grand Junction, CO 81506

Project: GJT Taxiway Alpha Rehabilitation

Professional Engineering Services through June 22, 2018

Contract Total Billed Previous Current
Amount to Date       Billings Billing

Lump Sum Services
Geotechnical Services 100% $13,049.00 $13,049.00 $13,049.00 $0.00
Surveying Services 100% $9,500.00 $9,500.00 $9,500.00 $0.00
Engineering Design Report 100% $45,051.00 $45,051.00 $45,051.00 $0.00
Final Design 100% $63,400.00 $63,400.00 $63,400.00 $0.00
Bidding Services 100% $15,900.00 $15,900.00 $1,093.20 $14,806.80

Totals $146,900.00 $146,900.00 $132,093.20 $14,806.80

Total Amount This Invoice $14,806.80

Outstanding Invoice(s) 00 $0.00

$14,806.80

Authorized by:__________________________________________

Enter Comment Here

June 28, 2018
17081934
17081934-7

Percent 
Complete

Project Manager
Colin Bible, PE

Authorized by:__________________________________________

182

http://www.garverusa.com/


 

Invoice No.

WORK TASK DESCRIPTION

1. Project Management

Project Kickoff Meeting with Design Team $1,093.00 100% $1,093.00 $1,093.00 $0.00

Attend Airport Board Meetings (1 Meeting) $4,520.00 100% $4,520.00 $4,520.00 $0.00

Subtotal - Project Management $5,613.00 100% $5,613.00 $5,613.00 $0.00 

2. Civil Engineering

Prepare for Predesign Conference $932.00 100% $932.00 $932.00 $0.00

Conduct Predesign Conference $3,390.00 100% $3,390.00 $3,390.00 $0.00

Prepare for Project Kickoff Meeting $224.00 100% $224.00 $224.00 $0.00

Conduct Project Kickoff Meeting and Site Visit $3,955.00 100% $3,955.00 $3,955.00 $0.00

Coordinate with Airport Staff $1,792.00 100% $1,792.00 $1,792.00 $0.00

Coordinate with FAA $448.00 100% $448.00 $448.00 $0.00

Coordinate with Engineer for 27 1/4 Road for Phasing/Timeline $224.00 100% $224.00 $224.00 $0.00

Coordinate with Surveyor $224.00 100% $224.00 $224.00 $0.00

Coordinate with Geotechnical Engineer $448.00 100% $448.00 $448.00 $0.00

Submit Environmental Categorical Exclusion $367.00 100% $367.00 $367.00 $0.00

Record Research $546.00 100% $546.00 $546.00 $0.00

Analyze Survey Data $546.00 100% $546.00 $546.00 $0.00

Process Survey Data and Prepare Basemap $572.00 100% $572.00 $572.00 $0.00

Analyze Geotechnical Data $789.00 100% $789.00 $789.00 $0.00

Subtotal - Civil Engineering $14,457.00 100% $14,457.00 $14,457.00 $0.00 

3. Prepare Engineer Design Report

     Executive Summary $448.00 100% $448.00 $448.00 $0.00

     Background and History $385.00 100% $385.00 $385.00 $0.00

     Scope Description, Design Criteria, Schematic Layouts, Alt. Solutions $2,184.00 100% $2,184.00 $2,184.00 $0.00

     Design Asphalt Taxiway Pavement Section Alternatives in FAARFIELD (Up to 2) $1,414.00 100% $1,414.00 $1,414.00 $0.00

     Taxiway A Typical Sections (Up to 2) $1,404.00 100% $1,404.00 $1,404.00 $0.00

     Geometric Layout of Taxiway A $1,180.00 100% $1,180.00 $1,180.00 $0.00

     Profile of Taxiway A $1,118.00 100% $1,118.00 $1,118.00 $0.00

     Develop Construction Phasing Options $2,012.00 100% $2,012.00 $2,012.00 $0.00

     Engineer's Opinion of Probable Costs $1,440.00 100% $1,440.00 $1,440.00 $0.00

QC Review $1,237.00 100% $1,237.00 $1,237.00 $0.00

Finalize and Submit Draft Report $1,538.00 100% $1,538.00 $1,538.00 $0.00

Prepare for and Conduct Draft Report Review Meeting (Conference Call) $789.00 100% $789.00 $789.00 $0.00

Incorporate Review Comments and Complete Report $2,558.00 100% $2,558.00 $2,558.00 $0.00

Subtotal - Prepare of Engineer Design Report $17,707.00 100% $17,707.00 $17,707.00 $0.00 

4. Direct Non-Labor Expenses

Non-Labor Direct Expenses $7,274.00 100% $7,274.00 $7,274.00 $0.00

Subtotal - Non-Labor Expenses $7,274.00 100% $7,274.00 $7,274.00 $0.00 

Total Fee: $45,051.00 100% $45,051.00 $45,051.00 $0.00 

Current

Billing

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT

TAXIWAY ALPHA REHABILITATION

ENGINEERING DESIGN REPORT

Professional Services through 6/22/18

Estimated 

Amount

Percent

Complete

Total Billed

to Date

Previous

Billings

17081934-7

183



 

Invoice No.

WORK TASK DESCRIPTION

1. Project Management

Attend Airport Board Meetings (1 Meeting) $4,520.00 100% $4,520.00 $4,520.00 $0.00

Subtotal - Project Management $4,520.00 100% $4,520.00 $4,520.00 $0.00 

2. Civil Engineering

Coordinate with FBO Regarding Phasing $2,260.00 100% $2,260.00 $2,260.00 $0.00

Coordinate with Airlines Regarding Phasing $2,260.00 100% $2,260.00 $2,260.00 $0.00

Incorporate FBO Comments $510.00 100% $510.00 $510.00 $0.00

Incorporate Airline Comments $510.00 100% $510.00 $510.00 $0.00

Coordinate with Airport Staff $2,688.00 100% $2,688.00 $2,688.00 $0.00

Coordinate with FAA $896.00 100% $896.00 $896.00 $0.00

Design Phase Kickoff Meeting with Design Team $1,950.00 100% $1,950.00 $1,950.00 $0.00

Subtotal - Civil Engineering $11,074.00 100% $11,074.00 $11,074.00 $0.00 

3. Develop Final Plans (95%) - Stage I

General Sheets

     Title Sheet (1 sheet) $143.00 100% $143.00 $143.00 $0.00

     Phasing Plans (4 sheets) $2,361.00 100% $2,361.00 $2,361.00 $0.00

     Safety and Phasing Details (1 sheet) $572.00 100% $572.00 $572.00 $0.00

     Quantities and Construction Notes (1 sheet) $733.00 100% $733.00 $733.00 $0.00

     Survey Data Control (1 sheet) $429.00 100% $429.00 $429.00 $0.00

     Erosion Control Plan (2 sheets) $286.00 100% $286.00 $286.00 $0.00

     Erosion Control Details (1 sheet) $286.00 100% $286.00 $286.00 $0.00

     Pavement Marking Details (2 sheets) $429.00 100% $429.00 $429.00 $0.00

Taxiway Alpha Rehabilitation Plans

     Demolition Plans (2 sheets) $1,305.00 100% $1,305.00 $1,305.00 $0.00

     Typical Sections (1 sheet) $1,404.00 100% $1,404.00 $1,404.00 $0.00

     Geometric Layout Plans Taxiway Alpha (2 sheets) $1,342.00 100% $1,342.00 $1,342.00 $0.00

     Taxiway A Plan and Profile Sheets (2 sheets) $2,361.00 100% $2,361.00 $2,361.00 $0.00

     Paving and Grading Details (2 sheets) $572.00 100% $572.00 $572.00 $0.00

     Paving and Grading Plans (4 sheets) $2,746.00 100% $2,746.00 $2,746.00 $0.00

     Pavement Marking Plans (2 sheets) $572.00 100% $572.00 $572.00 $0.00

     Miscellaneous Details (2 sheets) $894.00 100% $894.00 $894.00 $0.00

     Cross Sections (8 sheets) $2,012.00 100% $2,012.00 $2,012.00 $0.00

Prepare and Submit FAA Form 7460-1 Notice of Proposed Construction $733.00 100% $733.00 $733.00 $0.00

Prepare and submit CSPP to FAA $733.00 100% $733.00 $733.00 $0.00

Develop Final Bid Proposal $966.00 100% $966.00 $966.00 $0.00

Develop Front End Specifications $1,237.00 100% $1,237.00 $1,237.00 $0.00

Develop Final Technical Specifications and Modifications with Revisions and 

Justification Notes $4,261.00 100% $4,261.00 $4,261.00 $0.00

Final Quantities and Engineer's Opinion of Total Costs $2,334.00 100% $2,334.00 $2,334.00 $0.00

QC Review $1,578.00 100% $1,578.00 $1,578.00 $0.00

Finalize and Submit Final Plans, Specifications, Estimates $4,826.00 100% $4,826.00 $4,826.00 $0.00

Prepare for and Conduct Review Meeting of Final Plans, Specs, Estimates $4,179.00 100% $4,179.00 $4,179.00 $0.00

Final Revision and Submission of Bid Plans, Specs, Estimates $2,360.00 100% $2,360.00 $2,360.00 $0.00

Prepare and Submit Construction Management Plan $733.00 100% $733.00 $733.00 $0.00

QC Review $1,664.00 100% $1,664.00 $1,664.00 $0.00

Subtotal - Develop Final Plans (95%) - Stage I $44,051.00 100% $44,051.00 $44,051.00 $0.00 

4. Direct Non-Labor Expenses

Non-Labor Direct Expenses $3,755.00 100% $3,755.00 $3,755.00 $0.00

Subtotal - Non-Labor Expenses $3,755.00 100% $3,755.00 $3,755.00 $0.00 

Total Fee: $63,400.00 100% $63,400.00 $63,400.00 $0.00 

Total Billed

to Date

Previous

Billings

Current

Billing

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT

TAXIWAY ALPHA REHABILITATION

FINAL DESIGN

Professional Services through 6/22/18

17081934-7

Estimated 

Amount

Percent

Complete

184



 

Invoice No. 17081934-7

WORK TASK DESCRIPTION

Geotechnical Services 13,049.00$   100% 13,049.00$   $13,049.00 $0.00

Surveying Services 9,500.00$     100% 9,500.00$     $9,500.00 $0.00

Total Fee: 22,549.00$   100%  $  22,549.00 $22,549.00 $0.00 

Geotechnical Services

Surveying Services

Estimated 

Amount

Percent

Complete

Total Billed

to Date

Previous

Billings

Current

Billing

Professional Services through 6/22/18

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT

TAXIWAY ALPHA REHABILITATION

SURVEY AND GEOTECHNICAL SERVICES

185



 

Invoice No.

WORK TASK DESCRIPTION

1. Civil Engineering

Attend Airport Board Meeting (1 Meeting) $1,792.00 100% $1,792.00 $0.00 $1,792.00

Submit Hard Copy and CD of Specifications, Proposal, Geotech Report $459.00 100% $459.00 $459.00 $0.00

Prepare and Submit Addenda $2,236.00 100% $2,236.00 $0.00 $2,236.00

Prepare for and Conduct Pre-Bid Meeting $4,179.00 100% $4,179.00 $0.00 $4,179.00

Answer Bidder Inquires $1,792.00 100% $1,792.00 $358.40 $1,433.60

Prepare Bid Tabulation $444.00 100% $444.00 $0.00 $444.00

Prepare for and Conduct Bid Opening $1,792.00 100% $1,792.00 $0.00 $1,792.00
Evaluate Bids and Recommend Award $448.00 100% $448.00 $0.00 $448.00

Subtotal - Civil Engineering $13,142.00 100% $13,142.00 $817.40 $12,324.60

2. Direct Non-Labor Expenses

Direct Non-Labor Expenses $2,758.00 100% $2,758.00 $275.80 $2,482.20

Subtotal - Non-Labor Expenses $2,758.00 100% $2,758.00 $275.80 $2,482.20

Total Fee: $15,900.00 100% $15,900.00 $1,093.20 $14,806.80 

Estimated 

Amount

Percent

Complete

Total Billed

to Date

Previous

Billings

Current

Billing

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT

TAXIWAY ALPHA REHABILITATION

BIDDING SERVICES

Professional Services through 6/22/18

17081934-7

186



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Taxiway A Rehabilitation (Construction Administration) Work Order No. 3-
Garver 

PURPOSE: Information ☒ Guidance ☒ Decision ☐ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board Authorize the Chairman to execute Work Order No. 3 contingent 
upon FAA concurrence on the fee amount.  

LAST ACTION: GJRAA executed a Master Services Agreement with Garver on May 16, 
2017. 
Taxiway A (design only) Work Order No. 3 was executed on December 
2017. 

DISCUSSION: The scope of services includes construction administration services for 
improvements for the Taxiway Alpha Rehabilitation Project. Improvements 
will consist primarily of mill and overlay of the east and west ends of 
parallel taxiway serving the Airport’s primary runway. 

REVIEWED BY: Staff and legal counsel have reviewed the contract. An independent fee 
estimate was performed by QED. The cost analysis and negotiation process 
have determined the fee is fair and reasonable.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

FAA - $ 214,740 
GJRA - $ 23,860-Budgeted Dollars 
Total - $238,600.00 

ATTACHMENTS: Record of Negotiation 

STAFF CONTACT: Eric Trinklein 
etrinklein@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8597 

 

187



188



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: East Terminal Apron (Construction Administration) Work Order No. 3-
Garver 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board Authorize the Chairman to execute Work Order No. 3.  

LAST ACTION: GJRAA executed a Master Services Agreement and Work Order No. 1 with 
Garver on May 16, 2017. 

DISCUSSION: This work will be reimbursed entirely by the contractor as a condition of 
Change Order No. 4 to the Construction Agreement. The scope of services 
includes construction administration services and construction testing for the 
removal and replacement of concrete on the East Terminal Apron project. 

REVIEWED BY: Staff and legal counsel have reviewed the contract. An independent fee 
estimate was performed by QED. The cost analysis and negotiation process 
have determined the fee is fair and reasonable.  

FISCAL IMPACT: None: to be reimbursed by construction contractor 

ATTACHMENTS: Record of Negotiation 

STAFF CONTACT: Eric Trinklein 
etrinklein@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8597 

 

189



190



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Runway 11/29 Replacement Project – 27 ¼ Rd. Recommendation of Award   

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board accepts recommendation of award and authorizes board chair to sign 
contracts, pending receipt of FAA grants.   
 

LAST ACTION: Bids received on April 26, 2018 

DISCUSSION: Oldcastle SW Group, Inc. (dba United Companies) was determined to  
be the lowest responsive bidder. Therefore, we recommend the work be 
awarded to Oldcastle SW Group, Inc. (dba United Companies) for Schedule 
1, in the amount of $1,893,328.10, contingent on the availability of federal 
funds.  
 
Per Section 30-03 of the General Provisions, the Owner reserves the right to 
cancel the award without liability to the bidder, except return of proposal 
guaranty, at any time before a contract has been fully executed by all 
parties. 
 

REVIEWED BY: Staff and legal counsel has reviewed the attached recommendation of award 
and concurs with the Engineer’s review.   
 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

FAA $ 1,703,995 – pending grant 
GJRA $189,333.10 budgeted dollars 
Total $1,893,328.10 

 

COMMUNICATION 
STRATEGY: 

None. 

ATTACHMENTS: Grand Junction Regional Airport 27 ¼ Road Relocation – Bid 
Recommendation – May 30, 2018.   

STAFFCONTACT: Eric Trinklein 
etrinklein@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8597 

 

 

191

mailto:etrinklein@gjairport.com


 

 

1600 Broadway, Suite 800 Denver Colorado 80202 Phone: 720.946.0969 Facsimile: 720.946.0973 

 
May 30, 2018 
 

 

Eric Trinklein 

Project Manager 

Grand Junction Regional Airport 

2828 Walker Field Drive, Suite 301 

Grand Junction, Colorado 81506 

 

 

Project: Grand Junction Regional Airport 27 ¼ Road Relocation 

Subject: Bid Recommendation  

 

 

Dear Mr. Trinklein:  

 

We have completed our review of the Contractors’ bid proposals for the subject project. A total of five 

proposals were received. One proposal (Mountain Valley Contracting, Inc.) included a mathematical error, 

and that error has been corrected in the total bid price shown in the bid results listed below.   

 

Per Section 30-04 of the General Provisions, “proposal guaranties of the two lowest bidders will be 

retained by the Owner until such time as an award is made”. The two lowest bidders are Mountain Valley 

Contracting, Inc. and Oldcastle SW Group, Inc. (dba United Companies).  

 

In accordance with Division I, paragraph 16.d of the specifications, “The project award will be based on 

the low bid sum of Schedule 1.” The following is a table summarizing the bid results: 

 

Bidder Schedule 1 

Hank Williams, Inc. 

PO Box 704 – 35550 CR 4000 

Norwood, CO 81423 

970-27-4218 

$1,954,636.98 

M.A. Concrete Construction, Inc. 

2323 River Road 

Grand Junction, CO 81505 

970-250-9902 

$2,000,410.54 

Mountain Valley Contracting, Inc. 

2377 – F ½ Road 

Grand Junction, CO 81505 

970-245-1990 

$1,765,647.31 

Oldcastle SW Group, Inc. (dba 
United Companies) 

2273 River Road 

Grand Junction, CO 81505 

970-986-9575 

$1,893,328.10 

192



May 30, 2018 

Page 2 

 

 

1600 Broadway, Suite 800 Denver Colorado 80202 Phone: 720.946.0969 Facsimile: 720.946.0973 

SEMA Construction, Inc. 

7353 S. Eagle Street 

Centennial, CO 80112 

303-627-2600 

$2,424,502.00 

Engineer’s Estimate $2,116,859.92 

 

After examining all five proposals, Mountain Valley Contracting, Inc. (heretofore called MVC) was 

determined to be the lowest bidder. The low bid for Schedule 1 was found to be approximately sixteen 

percent below the Engineer’s Opinion of Probable Construction Cost, thus it is determined to be within 

funding parameters. Out of the five bids received, all were within approximately fifteen percent of each 

other and three were within approximately five percent of each other. Based on this price analysis, it is 

our opinion that the apparent low bid and second low bid are each fair and reasonable for the scope of 

the proposed work. 

 

The bid proposals were further examined for adherence to the requirements listed in the Instructions to 

Bidders. Bidders were required to submit forms, executed in full, as identified on the Bidder’s checklist. All 

contractors were researched on the System for Award Management and no exclusions were identified. 

The following is a table summarizing the required forms: 

 

B
id

d
e
r 

P
re

-B
id

 A
tt

e
n
d
a

n
c
e

 

D
B

E
 

A
d
d

e
n
d

u
m

 #
1

 

A
d
d

e
n
d

u
m

 #
2

 

A
d
d

e
n
d

u
m

 #
3

 

Q
u
e
s
t 

E
E

O
 

N
o
n
-T

ra
ff

ic
k
in

g
 

Im
m

ig
ra

ti
o
n
 R

e
fo

rm
 A

c
t 

B
id

d
e
rs

 P
re

-Q
u

a
lif

ic
a

tio
n

 

B
u
y
 A

m
e
ri
c
a

n
 

S
u
b
c
o

n
tr

a
c
to

r/
M

a
t'l

 L
is

t 

D
B

E
 L

e
tt

e
r 

o
f 

In
te

n
t 

G
o
o
d
 F

a
ith

 E
ff

o
rt

s
 

B
id

 G
u
a
ra

n
te

e
 

Mountain Valley 
Contracting, 
Inc. 

X X X X X X X X X * X X # X X 

M. A. Concrete 
Construction, 
Inc. 

X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X 

Oldcastle SW 
Group, Inc. 

X X X X % X X X X X X X X X X 

Hank Williams, 
Inc.  

X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X 

SEMA 
Construction, 
Inc. 

X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X 

 

* Submitted qualifications as part of bid package. These qualifications were incomplete and insufficient, and 

subsequent communications between Airport, Engineer, and Contractor were held as described below. 

# Submitted DBE firms and quotes. Of the three DBE firms listed as subconsultants, LOIs were only included for two 

of those firms. 

% Oldcastle SW Group Inc. clarified after bid opening that they acknowledge Addendum 3 with no impact to cost.   

193



May 30, 2018 

Page 3 

 

 

1600 Broadway, Suite 800 Denver Colorado 80202 Phone: 720.946.0969 Facsimile: 720.946.0973 

 

One proposal was deemed irregular and clarifications were requested. Clarification was requested from 
MVC regarding the required Statement of Qualifications. Items requested for clarification included:   
 

1. Submittal of expired state prequalification as proof of financial responsibility ($5M capacity).   

a. A 2017 reviewed financial statement was provided. The reviewed financial statement was 

deemed to not meet the generally acceptable accounting practice requirements for 

certification as required by the bidding instructions.   

b. A summary of work on hand was provided, indicating $9M backlog as of early May.   

2. Comparable projects excluded contact information.  

a. Contact phone numbers were provided for all projects presented.  

3. Comparable project details upon investigation were identified as inaccurate, including missing 

change orders and inaccurate day counts.  

a. Revised information was reported including underruns and overruns.   

4. Response regarding ongoing and recent litigation was omitted.  

a. MVC responded “none.”   

 
Under Division 1, Section 14 of the contract documents it indicates:  
 
The Owner reserves the right to disqualify any bidder who has in the Owners opinion, previously failed to 
perform properly or complete on time, contracts of a similar nature; who is not in a position to perform the 
Contract; or who has habitually and without just cause neglected the payment of bills or otherwise 
disregarded his obligations to subcontractors, material vendors, or employees. In determining the lowest 
responsible bidder, the following elements in addition to those above-mentioned will be considered: 
whether the business involved 1) maintains a permanent place of business; 2) has adequate equipment 
available to do the work properly and expeditiously; 3) has suitable financial resources to meet the 
obligations incidental to the work; and 4) has appropriate technical experience. 
 
Any bid that fails to conform to the essential requirements of the invitation for bids will be rejected. 
 

Based on this information, it is the Engineer’s opinion that, for the 27 ¼ Road Relocation Project, 

Mountain Valley Contracting has not provided appropriate essential information. Therefore, their bid is 

recommended for disqualification. 

 

After examining all five proposals, Oldcastle SW Group, Inc. (dba United Companies) was determined to 

be the lowest responsive bidder. Therefore, we recommend the work be awarded to Oldcastle SW Group, 

Inc. (dba United Companies) for Schedule 1, in the amount of $1,893,328.10, contingent on the 

availability of federal funds. Per Section 30-03 of the General Provisions, the Owner reserves the right to 

cancel the award without liability to the bidder, except return of proposal guaranty, at any time before a 

contract has been fully executed by all parties. 

 

  

194



May 30, 2018 

Page 4 

 

 

1600 Broadway, Suite 800 Denver Colorado 80202 Phone: 720.946.0969 Facsimile: 720.946.0973 

If you have any questions or require additional information, please contact me at 720-225-4642 or 

sciasto@deainc.com. 

 

 

Sincerely, 

David Evans and Associates, Inc.  

 
Sara Ciasto, PE 

Project Manager 

 

 

Attachments:  Bid Tabulation 

Mountain Valley Contracting, Inc. Bid Proposal with Clarifications 

Lowest Responsive Bidder Bid Proposal (Oldcastle SW Group, Inc. (dba United 

Companies)) 

 

cc: Angela Padalecki, GJT Executive Director  

Marc Miller, FAA Denver Airports District Office 

Scott Cary, Mead & Hunt Program Manager 

 
 

195



Bid Opening: April 25, 2018

BIDDER
Pre-Bid 

Attendance
DBE Addendum #1 Addendum #2 Addendum #3 Quest EEO Non-Trafficking

Immigration 

Reform Act

Bidders Pre-

Qualification
Buy American

Subcontractor/Ma

t'l List

DBE Letter of 

Intent

Good Faith 

Efforts
Bid Guarantee SCHEDULE 1

Mountain Valley Contracting, Inc. X X X X X X X X X * X X # X X $1,765,647.31

Oldcastle SW Group, Inc. dba United Companies X X X X % X X X X X X X X X X $1,893,328.10

Hank Williams, Inc. dba Williams Construction 

Contractors
X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X $1,954,636.98

M.A. Concrete Construction X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X $2,000,410.54

SEMA Construction, Inc. X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X $2,424,502.00

Engineer's Estimate $2,116,859.92

* Clearifications requested on qualifications

# Submitted DBE firms and quotes. Of the three DBE firms listed as subconsultants, LOIs were only included for two of those firms

% Oldcastle SW Group, Inc. clarified after bid opening that they acknowledge Addendum 3 with no impact to cost. 

BID MATRIX FOR:

27 1/4 ROAD RELOCATION 

Grand Junction Regional Airport
Grand Junction, Colorado

FAA Project# 3-08-0027-058-2018
Mead & Hunt Project# 2331300-170312.01

196



April 2018 Mead Hunt (2018)

Airport: Grand Junction Regional Airport FAA AIP Project No. 3-08-0027-058-2018

Project:  27 1/4 Road Relocation Mead & Hunt Project No. 2331300-1703I2.01

Mountain Valley Contracting, Inc.
Hank Williams, Inc. dba Williams 

Construction Contractors
M.A. Concrete Construction SEMA Construction, Inc.

Unit Price
Total Amount 

per Item
Unit Price

Total Amount 

per Item
Unit Price

Total Amount 

per Item
Unit Price

Total Amount 

per Item
Unit Price

Total Amount 

per Item

G-050 Contractor Survey 1 LS $92,725.00 $92,725.00 $39,000.00 $39,000.00 $99,184.24 $99,184.24 $35,000.00 $35,000.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00

G-100 Contractor Quality Control 1 LS $19,845.00 $19,845.00 $40,000.00 $40,000.00 $26,524.34 $26,524.34 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $100,000.00 $100,000.00

G-105 Mobilization 1 LS $24,540.00 $24,540.00 $132,000.00 $132,000.00 $137,142.17 $137,142.17 $154,938.00 $154,938.00 $240,000.00 $240,000.00

M-102 Airfield Safety and Traffic Control 1 LS $27,080.00 $27,080.00 $34,000.00 $34,000.00 $25,205.70 $25,205.70 $63,000.00 $63,000.00 $150,000.00 $150,000.00

M-103 Dust Control 1 LS $174,800.00 $174,800.00 $8,000.00 $8,000.00 $131,653.74 $131,653.74 $27,000.00 $27,000.00 $75,000.00 $75,000.00

201-00001 Clearing and Grubbing 1 LS $8,780.00 $8,780.00 $10,800.00 $10,800.00 $27,861.62 $27,861.62 $17,054.00 $17,054.00 $47,000.00 $47,000.00

202-00033 Removal of Pipe 1 EA $355.00 $355.00 $1,380.00 $1,380.00 $2,222.73 $2,222.73 $600.00 $600.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00

202-00220 Removal of Asphalt Mat 2,393 SY $3.10 $7,418.30 $3.00 $7,179.00 $7.91 $18,928.63 $2.75 $6,580.75 $4.50 $10,768.50

202-00240 Removal of Asphalt Mat (Planing) 941 SY $4.60 $4,328.60 $5.00 $4,705.00 $5.73 $5,391.93 $2.75 $2,587.75 $3.00 $2,823.00

202-01000 Removal of Fence 2,976 LF $2.80 $8,332.80 $1.60 $4,761.60 $1.47 $4,374.72 $3.00 $8,928.00 $2.00 $5,952.00

203-00010 Unclassified Excavation (CIP) 15,191 CY $7.25 $110,134.75 $11.00 $167,101.00 $4.98 $75,651.18 $11.94 $181,380.54 $8.50 $129,123.50

208-00001 Erosion Control (Complete in Place) 1 LS $25,220.00 $25,220.00 $66,000.00 $66,000.00 $55,327.00 $55,327.00 $52,165.00 $52,165.00 $130,000.00 $130,000.00

304-06007 Aggregate Base Course (Class 6) 5,444 CY $37.54 $204,367.76 $42.00 $228,648.00 $38.83 $211,390.52 $38.72 $210,791.68 $37.00 $201,428.00

40l(CDOT) Hot Mix Asphalt (Grading S) (75) (PG 64-22) 2,695 TON $92.75 $249,961.25 $91.00 $245,245.00 $98.26 $264,810.70 $84.66 $228,158.70 $86.00 $231,770.00

401(CDOT) Hot Mix Asphalt (Grading SX) (75) (PG 64-28) 2,812 TON $95.00 $267,140.00 $98.00 $275,576.00 $94.82 $266,633.84 $86.70 $243,800.40 $88.00 $247,456.00

411-l0255 Emulsified Asphalt (Slow Setting) 2,503 GAL $2.95 $7,383.85 $1.40 $3,504.20 $3.57 $8,935.71 $3.06 $7,659.18 $3.00 $7,509.00

420-00102 Geotextile (Erosion Conlrol) (CL I) 345 SY $2.05 $707.25 $4.00 $1,380.00 $5.43 $1,873.35 $3.00 $1,035.00 $6.00 $2,070.00

506-00409 Soil Riprap (9in) 181 CY $98.70 $17,864.70 $95.00 $17,195.00 $136.87 $24,773.47 $130.00 $23,530.00 $175.00 $31,675.00

601-03000 Concrete Class D 18 CY $995.00 $17,910.00 $910.00 $16,380.00 $533.69 $9,606.42 $1,516.00 $27,288.00 $1,000.00 $18,000.00

602-00020 Reinforcing Steel (Epoxy Coated) 780 LB $2.30 $1,794.00 $2.15 $1,677.00 $9.64 $7,519.20 $4.00 $3,120.00 $5.00 $3,900.00

603-01180 18" RCP Class Ill (CIP) 188 LF $39.45 $7,416.60 $79.00 $14,852.00 $53.82 $10,118.16 $92.00 $17,296.00 $65.00 $12,220.00

603-01240 24" RCP Class Ill (CIP) 100 LF $50.65 $5,065.00 $103.00 $10,300.00 $73.63 $7,363.00 $112.00 $11,200.00 $110.00 $11,000.00

603-01360 36" RCP Class III (CIP) 100 LF $104.50 $10,450.00 $147.00 $14,700.00 $100.68 $10,068.00 $152.00 $15,200.00 $160.00 $16,000.00

603-01480 48" RCP Class Ill (CIP) 53 LF $153.50 $8,135.50 $230.00 $12,190.00 $155.28 $8,229.84 $195.00 $10,335.00 $200.00 $10,600.00

603-05018 18" Flared End Section 6 EA $634.00 $3,804.00 $870.00 $5,220.00 $988.02 $5,928.12 $515.00 $3,090.00 $1,000.00 $6,000.00

603-05024 24" Flared End Section 4 EA $760.00 $3,040.00 $990.00 $3,960.00 $1,176.84 $4,707.36 $622.00 $2,488.00 $1,200.00 $4,800.00

603-05036 36" Flared End Section 4 EA $1,303.00 $5,212.00 $1,475.00 $5,900.00 $1,759.15 $7,036.60 $1,076.00 $4,304.00 $1,700.00 $6,800.00

603-05048 48" Flared End Section 2 EA $1,543.00 $3,086.00 $1,825.00 $3,650.00 $2,313.84 $4,627.68 $1,305.00 $2,610.00 $1,900.00 $3,800.00

603-30018 18" Flared End Section (SES) 6 EA $228.00 $1,368.00 $375.00 $2,250.00 $499.90 $2,999.40 $183.00 $1,098.00 $420.00 $2,520.00

603-50018 18" HDPE (PE) (CIP) 52 LF $47.75 $2,483.00 $153.00 $7,956.00 $59.93 $3,116.36 $153.00 $7,956.00 $140.00 $7,280.00

603-70804 8X4 Foot Concrete Box Culvert (Precast) (CIP) 52 LF $584.00 $30,368.00 $605.00 $31,460.00 $764.18 $39,737.36 $840.00 $43,680.00 $800.00 $41,600.00

Schedule 1 - Relocate 27 1/4 Road

BID SCHEDULE

Unit
Estimated 

Quantity
Item DescriptionItem No.

Oldcastle SW Group, Inc. dba 

United Companies

Grand Junction Regional Airport

Grand Junction, CO

AIP # 3-08-0027-058-2018 Div. 2-5

Bid Document s Required at Bid Opening

27 1/4 Road Relocation

Issue For Bid197



April 2018 Mead Hunt (2018)

Airport: Grand Junction Regional Airport FAA AIP Project No. 3-08-0027-058-2018

Project:  27 1/4 Road Relocation Mead & Hunt Project No. 2331300-1703I2.01

Mountain Valley Contracting, Inc.
Hank Williams, Inc. dba Williams 

Construction Contractors
M.A. Concrete Construction SEMA Construction, Inc.

Unit Price
Total Amount 

per Item
Unit Price

Total Amount 

per Item
Unit Price

Total Amount 

per Item
Unit Price

Total Amount 

per Item
Unit Price

Total Amount 

per Item

Schedule 1 - Relocate 27 1/4 Road

BID SCHEDULE

Unit
Estimated 

Quantity
Item DescriptionItem No.

Oldcastle SW Group, Inc. dba 

United Companies

603-71604 16X4 Foot Concrete Box Culvert (Precast) (CIP) 136 LF $958.00 $130,288.00 $1,060.00 $144,160.00 $1,473.77 $200,432.72 $1,615.00 $219,640.00 $1,700.00 $231,200.00

604-00310 Agri Drain Outlet Structure or Approved Equal 3 EA $2,019.00 $6,057.00 $2,584.00 $7,752.00 $2,495.50 $7,486.50 $3,631.00 $10,893.00 $3,500.00 $10,500.00

607-01055 Fence Wire with Treated Wooden Posts 17,335 LF $4.24 $73,500.40 $4.00 $69,340.00 $4.44 $76,967.40 $4.08 $70,726.80 $4.00 $69,340.00

607-60003 3 Foot Gate Walk 6 EA $282.00 $1,692.00 $267.00 $1,602.00 $366.62 $2,199.72 $765.00 $4,590.00 $260.00 $1,560.00

607-60324 24 Foot Gate Twin 1 EA $1,413.00 $1,413.00 $1,337.00 $1,337.00 $1,454.44 $1,454.44 $1,836.00 $1,836.00 $1,300.00 $1,300.00

607-60340 40 Foot Gate Twin 3 EA $1,640.00 $4,920.00 $1,550.00 $4,650.00 $1,678.89 $5,036.67 $2,040.00 $6,120.00 $1,500.00 $4,500.00

608-01550 Place Asphalt Millings 9,942 SY $2.00 $19,884.00 $4.00 $39,768.00 $1.96 $19,486.32 $3.07 $30,521.94 $8.00 $79,536.00

608(SPECIAL) Place Asphalt Millings 5,706 CY $20.40 $116,402.40 $21.00 $119,826.00 $6.95 $39,656.70 $23.00 $131,238.00 $18.00 $102,708.00

611-00032 32 Foot Cattle Guard 1 EA $22,485.00 $22,485.00 $32,000.00 $32,000.00 $28,894.09 $28,894.09 $32,000.00 $32,000.00 $45,000.00 $45,000.00

613-01300 3 Inch Electrical Conduit (Plastic) 81 LF $7.90 $639.90 $22.00 $1,782.00 $15.19 $1,230.39 $18.00 $1,458.00 $10.00 $810.00

614-00011 Sign Panel (Class I) 79 SF $33.95 $2,682.05 $22.50 $1,777.50 $28.73 $2,269.67 $22.44 $1,772.76 $21.00 $1,659.00

614-00012 Sign Panel (Class II) 10 SF $33.95 $339.50 $24.60 $246.00 $30.98 $309.80 $24.48 $244.80 $23.00 $230.00

614-00013 Sign Panel (Class III) 32 SF $33.95 $1,086.40 $30.00 $960.00 $36.59 $1,170.88 $29.58 $946.56 $25.00 $800.00

614-00200 Steel Sign Post (U-2) 144 LF $33.95 $4,888.80 $10.70 $1,540.80 $13.80 $1,987.20 $11.22 $1,615.68 $6.00 $864.00

627-00008 Modified Epoxy Pavement Marking 134 GAL $118.75 $15,912.50 $100.00 $13,400.00 $118.84 $15,924.56 $97.00 $12,998.00 $100.00 $13,400.00

630-00000 Traffic Control (CIP) 1 LS $11,840.00 $11,840.00 $36,110.00 $36,110.00 $40,289.03 $40,289.03 $34,272.00 $34,272.00 $50,000.00 $50,000.00

630 Traffic Control 1 LS $500.00 $500.00 $107.00 $107.00 $897.80 $897.80 $663.00 $663.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00

TOTAL AMOUNT OF SCHEDULE 1 $1,765,647.31 $1,893,328.10 $1,954,636.98 $2,000,410.54 $2,424,502.00

TOTAL AMOUNT OF BID SCHEDULE 1

Engineer's 

estimate: 
$2,116,859.92 Bid in pdf: $1,770,359.33

Average Bid $2,007,704.99 Percentage vs Engineer 17% 11% 8% 6% -15%

Name of Bidder (Type or Printed)

Signature of Bidder (Same as Proposal Form)

Title

Bid Schedule Summary

END OF BID SCHEDULE

$1,765,647.31 $2,000,410.54$1,954,636.98$1,893,328.10 $2,424,502.00

Grand Junction Regional Airport

Grand Junction, CO

AIP # 3-08-0027-058-2018 Div. 2-5

Bid Document s Required at Bid Opening

27 1/4 Road Relocation

Issue For Bid198



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Runway 11/29 Replacement Project – 2018 RTR Relocation Award   

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board accept recommendation of award and authorize board chair to sign 
contracts, pending receipt of FAA grants.   
 

LAST ACTION: Bids received on April 26, 2018 

DISCUSSION: SEMA Construction Inc. was determined to be the lowest responsive  
bidder.  Therefore, we recommend the work be awarded to SEMA 
Construction Inc. for Schedules 1, 2, and 3 in the amount of $3,251,843.25, 
contingent on the availability of federal funds.  
 
Per Section 30-03 of the General Provisions, the Owner reserves the right to 
cancel the award without liability to the bidder, except return of proposal 
guaranty, at any time before a contract has been fully executed by all parties.  

REVIEWED BY:  Staff and legal counsel has reviewed the attached recommendation of award 
and concurs with the Engineer’s recommendation. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

FAA $ 2,926,658 – pending grant 
GJRA $325,185.25 budgeted dollars  
Total $3,251,843.25 

 

COMMUNICATION 
STRATEGY: 

None. 

ATTACHMENTS: Grand Junction Regional Airport 2018 RTR Relocation– Bid 
Recommendation – May 25, 2018.   
 

STAFFCONTACT: Eric Trinklein 
etrinklein@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8597 

 

 

199

mailto:etrinklein@gjairport.com


 

 

 

 

 

May 25, 2018 

 

Eric Trinklein 

Project Manager 

Grand Junction Regional Airport 

2828 Walker Field Drive, Suite 301 

Grand Junction, Colorado 81506 

 

Project: Grand Junction Regional Airport 2018 RTR Relocation 

Subject: Bid Recommendation 

 

Dear Mr.Trinklein:  

 

We have completed our review of the Contractors’ bid proposals for the subject project. A total of five 

proposals were received. Mathematical errors were identified in one bid, provided by Williams 

Construction Contractors and were corrected in the bid pricing below.  

 

Per Section 30-04 of the General Provisions, “proposal guaranties of the two lowest bidders will be 

retained by the Owner until such time as an award is made”. The two lowest bidders are Mountain Valley 

Contracting, Inc. and SEMA Construction, Inc.  

 

In accordance with Division I, paragraph 16.d of the specifications, “The project award will be based on 

the low bid sum of Schedule 1 plus any additional Schedule(s) awarded by the Owner. Not all schedules 

may be awarded. A combination of schedules may be awarded, including only a single schedule.” The 

following is a table summarizing the bid results: 

  

200



Eric Trinklein  

May 25, 2018 

Page 2 

 

180525 GJT 2017 Bid Recommendation 

 

Bidder Schedule 1 Schedule 2 Schedule 3 

Hank Williams, Inc. dba Williams 

Construction Contractors 

PO Box 704-35550 CR4000 

Norwood, CO 81423 

970-327-4218 

$1,462,023.58 $579,283.83 $1,234,031.25 

Mountain Valley Contracting, Inc. 

2377 – F ½ Road 

Grand Junction, CO 81505 

970-245-1990 

$1,546,432.65 $433,525.00 $1,090,002.95 

Reams Construction Co. 

PO Box 106/31527 HWY 141 

Naturita, CO 81422 

970-865-2886 

$1,881,006.19 $388,408.29 $1,716,990.29 

SEMA Construction, Inc. 

7353 S. Eagle Street 

Centennial, CO 80112 

303-627-2600 

$1,834,097.00 

 

$267,918.00 $1,149,828.25 

Staker Parson dba Nielson 

Construction 

825 North, Loop Road 

Huntington, UT 84528 

435-687-0120 

$2,794,246.01 $561,521.37 $2,040,390.29 

Engineer’s Estimate $2,381,637.22 $183,204.00 $1,251,218.05 

 

After examining all five proposals, Mountain Valley Contracting, Inc. (heretofore called MVC) was 

determined to be the lowest bidder. The low bid for Schedule 1-3 was found to be approximately 20 

percent below the Engineer’s Opinion of Probable Construction Cost, thus it is determined to be within 

funding parameters. Out of the five bids received three were within approximately five percent of each 

other with two additional bids up to 40% above the average. Out of the five bids received, the average 

was within one percent of the engineer’s estimate, with pricing ranges from 20% below to 41% above the 

engineer’s estimate.  Based on this price analysis, it is our opinion that the apparent low bid is fair and 

reasonable.  Based on this price analysis, it is our opinion that the apparent low bid and second low bid 

are fair and reasonable for the scope of the proposed work. 

 

The bid proposals were further examined for adherence to the requirements listed in the Instructions to 

Bidders. Bidders were required to submit forms, executed in full, as identified on the Bidder’s checklist.   

All contractors were researched on the System for Award Management and no exclusions were identified.  

The following is a table summarizing the required forms: 

 

 

201



Eric Trinklein  

May 25, 2018 

Page 3 

 

180525 GJT 2017 Bid Recommendation 

B
id

d
e
r 

P
re

-B
id

 A
tt

e
n
d
a

n
c
e

 

D
B

E
 

A
d
d

e
n
d

u
m

 #
1

 

A
d
d

e
n
d

u
m

 #
2

 

A
d
d

e
n
d

u
m

 #
3

 

Q
u
e
s
t 

E
E

O
 

N
o
n
-T

ra
ff

ic
k
in

g
 

Im
m

ig
ra

ti
o
n
 R

e
fo

rm
 A

c
t 

B
id

d
e
rs

 P
re

-Q
u

a
lif

ic
a

tio
n

 

B
u
y
 A

m
e
ri
c
a

n
 

S
u
b
c
o

n
tr

a
c
to

r/
M

a
t'l

 L
is

t 

D
B

E
 L

e
tt

e
r 

o
f 

In
te

n
t 

G
o
o
d
 F

a
ith

 E
ff

o
rt

s
 

B
id

 G
u
a
ra

n
te

e
 

Hank Williams, 
Inc. 

X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X 

Mountain Valley 
Contracting, 
Inc. 

X X X X X X X X X * X X X X X 

Reams 
Construction 
Co. 

X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X 

SEMA 
Construction, 
Inc. 

X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X 

Staker Parson 
X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X 

 

* Submitted qualifications as part of bid package. These qualifications were incomplete and insufficient, and 

subsequent communications between Airport, Engineer, and Contractor were held as described below. 

 

One proposal (MVC) was deemed irregular and clarifications were requested.  Items requested for 

clarification included:   

 

1. Submittal of expired state prequalification as proof of financial responsibility ($5M capacity).   

a. A 2017 Reviewed financial statement was provided. The reviewed financial statement 

was deemed to not meet the generally acceptable accounting practice requirements for 

certification as required by the bidding instructions.   

b. A summary of work on hand was provided, indicating $9M backlog as of early May.   

2. Comparable projects excluded contact information  

a. Contact phone numbers were provided for all projects presented.  

3. Comparable project details upon investigation were identified as inaccurate, including missing 

change orders and inaccurate day counts.  

a. Revised information was reported including underruns, and overruns.   

4. Comparable completed projects provided were not currently completed and/or just beginning at 

time of bid.  

a. An 180 Calendar day project with a contract amount of 4,376,32.76 was removed and 

identified as work in progress.  This project was replaced with a City of Grand Junction 

project, valued at 1,163,938.55.   

202



Eric Trinklein  

May 25, 2018 

Page 4 

 

180525 GJT 2017 Bid Recommendation 

b. Highline Canal Reach I was provided and quantified for the 2016/2017 season at 

$1,514,348.75.  Per verbal clarification this is assumed to only include the 2016/2017 

costs, and the 2017/2018 efforts identified as relevant experience are under negotiation.      

5. Response regarding ongoing and recent litigation was omitted.  

a. MVC responded  “none.”   

 

Under Division 1, Section 14 of the contract documents it indicates:  

 

The Owner reserves the right to disqualify any bidder who has in the Owners opinion, previously  
failed to perform properly or complete on time, contracts of a similar nature; who is not in a position to 
perform the Contract; or who has habitually and without just cause neglected the payment of bills or 
otherwise disregarded his obligations to subcontractors, material vendors or employees. In determining 
the lowest responsible bidder, the following elements in addition to those above-mentioned will be 
considered: whether the business involved 1) maintains a permanent place of business; 2) has adequate 
equipment available to do the work properly and expeditiously; 3) has suitable financial resources to meet 
the obligations incidental to the work; and 4) has appropriate technical experience. 
 
Any bid that fails to conform to the essential requirements of the invitation for bids will be rejected. 
 

Based on this information, it is the Engineer’s opinion that for the RTR Facility, Mountain Valley 

Contracting has not provided appropriate essential information, nor completed a project of similar nature 

(size, complexity), therefore the bid was recommended for disqualification.   

 

After examining all five proposals, SEMA Construction Inc. was determined to be the lowest responsive 

bidder.  Therefore, we recommend the work be awarded to SEMA Construction Inc. for Schedules 1, 2, 

and 3 in the amount of $3,251,843.25, contingent on the availability of federal funds. Per Section 30-03 of 

the General Provisions, the Owner reserves the right to cancel the award without liability to the bidder, 

except return of proposal guaranty, at any time before a contract has been fully executed by all parties. 

 

If you have any questions or require additional information, please contact me at 303 825-8856 or 

scott.cary@meadhunt.com. 

 

Sincerely, 

MEAD & HUNT, Inc.  

 

 

 

P. Scott Cary, PE 

Program Manager 

 

Attachments:  Bid Tabulation 

Mountain Valley Contracting Inc  Bidder Proposal with Clarifications 

Lowest Responsive Bidder Bid Proposal (SEMA Construction, Inc.) 

 

cc: Angela Padalecki, GJT Executive Director  

Marc Miller, FAA Denver Airports District Office 

 

 

203



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC:  FY 2018 Scope of Services and Fee (Mead & Hunt) 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board approve contract pending receipt of FAA grants.   

LAST ACTION: The Board approved last year’s Scope of Services #1 and this year’s 
Scope of Services #2.  Previously discussed at June 2018 board 
meeting.   

DISCUSSION: The Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority (Authority) began in 
2016 a multi-year program to relocate the primary runway. Building 
upon the 2017 efforts, the attached scope intends to define the 
foreseeable effort over the next twelve-fourteen months similar to 
the 2017 scoping efforts from last summer.   

This year’s efforts includes construction administration services for 
the 27 ¼ RD construction and RTR Grading package, along with 
design services and project support for the next year.   

It is expected that the approved scope and fee will be executed under 
multiple task orders through the year as funds become available.  
Proactively negotiating scope items assists the airport in being 
nimble and efficient.   

REVIEWED BY Scope and fee were reviewed by staff and FAA and fee was 
evaluated by an independent third party that performs similar airport 
services.  Costs were reviewed in accordance with FAA grant 
assurances for consistency with industry standard prior to board 
action.   

FISCAL IMPACT: Federal AIP Grant  - $2,134,188  
State Match – tbd 
Local Match – $237,132.90 
Total - $2,371,320.90 

ATTACHMENTS: Record of Negotiation 
 

STAFF CONTACT: Eric Trinklein 
etrinklein@gjairport.com, Office: 970-248-8597 

 

204

mailto:etrinklein@gjairport.com


205



206



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC:  AIP 54 Change Order #4-IHC 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the Board approve AIP: 3-08-0027-054-2016 
Change Order #4 to Interstate Highway Construction, Inc. (IHC). 

LAST ACTION:  

DISCUSSION: This change order provides pay items for IHC to reimburse the 
Sponsor for cost related to additional engineering fees related to 
construction suspension (time between final inspection and 
beginning removal and replacement of P-501) and for construction 
materials testing, construction administration, construction 
observation and project closeout services due to removal and 
replacement of P-501.  

REVIEW BY: The revised pavement construction parameters were coordinated, 
reviewed and agreed upon by the FAA and Staff. 

FISCAL IMPACT: None-to be reimbursed by Contractor 

ATTACHMENTS: 1. Change Order Number Four 
  
STAFF CONTACT: Eric Trinklein 

etrinklein@gjairport.com 
970-248-8597 

 

207

mailto:etrinklein@gjairport.com


208



209



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Employee Health Benefits 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board approval of employee health benefits beginning September 1, 2018   
 

LAST ACTION:  

DISCUSSION: Hub has presented the following health benefit packages for staff.  
 

REVIEWED BY: Staff has reviewed and recommends implementing this employee benefit 
package.   
 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

$13,000 - $20,000 increase in 2018/2019 GJRAA health care premiums 

COMMUNICATION 
STRATEGY: 

None. 

ATTACHMENTS: Health Benefit Package   

STAFFCONTACT: Angela Padalecki 

 

 



Page 30

Action Item  2018/2019 Employee Health Benefits

 Objectives

 Add additional medical plan design options

 Reduce premium obligation for employees with dependent 
coverage

 Move closer to benchmark with western slope and small employers

 Add Section 125 Flexible Spending Account Program



Page 31

Benchmarking - 2017 Employers Council Survey (formerly MSEC)

Plan Design Benchmarking Public Sector 1 to 49 employees Western Slope GJRAA Today GJRAA Proposed

100% Employer Paid Employee Paid Premium 15% 17% 14% Yes No

Average Employer/Employee Premium Split 
Single Employee 85%/15% 80%/20% 86%/14% 100%/0% 95%/5%

Average Employee Only Premium/Month $87 $96 $96 $0 $29 

Average Employer/Dependent Premium Split 76%/24% 55%/45% 78%/22% 70%/30% 60%/40%

Average Employee Paid Family Share $383 $562 $349 $935 $672 

Average HMO Plan Deductible $810 $850 $970 $1,000 $3,000 

Average HMO Out of Pocket $2,890 $3,610 $3,310 $6,500 $6,000 

Average HMO Co Pay $30 $30 $25 $15 $30 

Average Health Savings Account annual 
contribution single $740 $576 $542 N/A $1,188 

Average Health Savings Account annual 
contribution family $1,271 $1,089 $801 N/A $1,188 

Offer FSA Plan 85% 74% 77% No Yes



Page 32

Current vs. Proposed Plan Design



Page 33

Dental



Page 34

Vision



Page 35

Total Cost Comparison



Page 36

Appleton Clinic  -Direct Primary Care

 $99 per adult per month/children under 26 free

 Lab work performed at Appleton included in cost

 Unlimited primary/urgent care office visits

 100 generic drugs stocked in dispensary- no cost

 Hours 8:00 to 5:00 pm Monday – Friday

 After hours/weekends/doctors on call available-no cost



Page 1 June 2018

GJT Grand Junction Regional Airport
June 2018 Board Meeting



Page 2

Call to Order



Page 3

Approval of Agenda



Page 4

Commissioner Comments



Page 5

Citizen Comments

 The Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority welcomes 
respectful public comments at its meetings. The Citizens 
Comment section is open to all individuals that would like to 
comment. If you wish to speak under the Citizens Comment 
portion of the agenda, please fill out a comment card prior to the 
meeting. If you have a written statement for the Board, please 
have 10 copies available and give them to the Executive Director 
who will distribute them to the Board. The Board Chairman will 
indicate when you may come forward and comment. Please state 
your name for the record. Presentations are limited to three 
minutes and yielding time to others is not permitted. Speakers are 
to address the Chairman, not each other or the audience, and are 
expected to conduct themselves in an appropriate manner. The 
use of abusive or profane language shall not be allowed. No 
debate or argument between speakers and/or members of the 
audience shall be permitted.



Page 6

Staff Reports

 Director’s Report



Page 7

Activity Update



Page 8

May YTD 2016: 87,526
May YTD 2017: 94,763
May YTD 2018: 90,171
May YTD Budgeted: 95,340

May YTD 2016: 2,414
May YTD 2017: 2,440
May YTD 2018: 2,454

May 2018 enplanements were almost flat vs. budget and May 
2017 levels; Commercial landings were up YOY due to 13 more 
diversions in May 2018

 14,000

 18,000

 22,000

 26,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Enplanements

2016 2017 2018 Budget

300

400

500

600

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Commercial Passenger Landings

2016 2017 2018

Highlights:
• Load factors were up, resulting in flat 

enplanements despite 4% reduction in capacity
• American led the airlines with 710 more 

enplanements than May 2017

Highlights:
• 21 diversions in May 2018 vs. 8 in May 2017
• Most diversions were gas & go- causing little 

affect to deplanements



Page 9

Cargo gross weight was down less year-over-year compared to 
the first four months of the year

 7,000.00

 9,000.00

 11,000.00

 13,000.00

 15,000.00

 17,000.00

 19,000.00

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Cargo lbs per landing

2016 2017 2018

40

50

60

70

80

90

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Cargo Landings

2016 2017 2018

 600,000
 700,000
 800,000
 900,000

 1,000,000
 1,100,000
 1,200,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Cargo Gross Weight (lbs)

2016 2017 2018

Highlights:
• FedEx freight ON increased 7% year-over-year
• FedEx freight OFF decreased 22% year-over-year 
• KeyLime freight ON decreased 45% year-over-year
• KeyLime freight OFF increased 157% year-over-year



Page 10

Financial Update



Page 11

Operating revenues were slightly below budget and operating 
expenses continue to be well below budget

Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority

Statements of Changes in Net Position
Unaudited - subject to change
As of Date: 05/31/2018
 
 Year to Date Year To Date Year to Date Year To Date Year To Date Month Month Month MonthMonth Ending

 05/31/2018 05/31/2018 05/31/2017 05/31/2018 05/31/2018 05/31/2018 05/31/2018 05/31/2017 05/31/2018 05/31/2018

 Budget Actual actual Budget Diff Budget % Var Budget Actual actual Budget Diff Budget % Var

  Operating revenue                     

    Aeronautical revenue 1,053,300 1,109,145 1,090,056 55,845 5.30 % 223,900 227,395 226,652 3,495 1.56 %

    Non-aeronautical revenue 1,481,981 1,437,702 1,446,273 (44,279) (2.98) % 304,800 295,450 306,912 (9,350) (3.06) %

  Total Operating revenues 2,535,281 2,546,847 2,536,329 11,566 0.45 % 528,700 522,845 533,564 (5,855) (1.10) %

  Operating expenses 2,141,015 1,666,998 1,604,400 (474,017) (22.13) % 491,453 302,395 271,590 (189,058) (38.46) %

  Net Operating Income (loss) 394,266 879,849 931,929 485,583 123.16 % 37,247 220,450 261,974 183,203 491.85 %

 

 

 

Highlights:
• Revenues are down driven by lower April enplanements. Parking, Rental Car, and Concessions revenues reflect 

April activity because these revenues are always on a one month lag.
• Expenses are below budget primarily due to expenses being pushed to later in the year. Expenses are forecasted to 

come in about $20K under budget for the year.


GJRAA- Income Statement-Slide S

		Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority

		Statements of Changes in Net Position

		Unaudited - subject to change

		As of Date:		05/31/2018

		 

		 		Year to Date		Year To Date		Year to Date		Year To Date		Year To Date		Month		Month		Month		Month		Month Ending

		 		05/31/2018		05/31/2018		05/31/2017		05/31/2018		05/31/2018		05/31/2018		05/31/2018		05/31/2017		05/31/2018		05/31/2018

		 		Budget		Actual		actual		Budget Diff		Budget % Var		Budget		Actual		actual		Budget Diff		Budget % Var

		 

		  Operating revenue		  		  		  		  		  		  		  		  		  		  

		    Aeronautical revenue		1,053,300		1,109,145		1,090,056		55,845		5.30 %		223,900		227,395		226,652		3,495		1.56 %

		    Non-aeronautical revenue		1,481,981		1,437,702		1,446,273		(44,279)		(2.98) %		304,800		295,450		306,912		(9,350)		(3.06) %

		 

		  Total Operating revenues		2,535,281		2,546,847		2,536,329		11,566		0.45 %		528,700		522,845		533,564		(5,855)		(1.10) %

		  Operating expenses		2,141,015		1,666,998		1,604,400		(474,017)		(22.13) %		491,453		302,395		271,590		(189,058)		(38.46) %

		 

		  Net Operating Income (loss)		394,266		879,849		931,929		485,583		123.16 %		37,247		220,450		261,974		183,203		491.85 %







Page 12

 -

 50,000

 100,000

 150,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Rental Car Revenue

2018 Budgeted

 8,000
 9,000

 10,000
 11,000
 12,000
 13,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Concession Revenue

2018 Budgeted

 90,000

 110,000

 130,000

 150,000

 170,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Parking Revenue

2018 Budgeted

 40,000

 60,000

 80,000

 100,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

PFC Revenue

2018 Budgeted

May YTD ‘17: $ 578,038
May YTD ‘18: $ 555,418
YTD Budget: $ 578,100

May YTD ‘17: $ 346,482
May YTD ‘18: $ 360,777
YTD Budget: $ 353,400

May YTD ‘17: $ 434,048
May YTD ‘18: $ 445,910 
YTD Budget: $ 456,039

May YTD '17: $50,305
May YTD '18: $51,572
YTD Budget: $49,300

*Parking, Rental Car, and Concessions revenues reflect April activity because these 
revenues are always on a one month lag.

Parking, rental car, and concessions revenues were down 
primarily due to fewer enplanements



Page 13

 -
 1.00
 2.00
 3.00
 4.00
 5.00
 6.00
 7.00
 8.00

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Revenue per Enplanement
Parking

2018 Budgeted

 3.50

 4.00

 4.50

 5.00

 5.50

 6.00

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Revenue per Enplanement
Rental Car

2018 Budgeted

 -
 0.10
 0.20
 0.30
 0.40
 0.50
 0.60
 0.70
 0.80

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Revenue per Enplanement
Concessions

2018 Budgeted

YTD Average- $ 6.22
YTD Budget Avg- $ 6.09
2018 Budget- $ 5.78

YTD Average- $ 5.00
YTD Budget Avg- $ 5.18
2018 Budget- $ 6.4

YTD Average- $ 0.22
YTD Budget Avg- $ 0.13
2018 Budget- $ 0.08

YTD Average- $ 0.63
YTD Budget Avg- $ 0.56
2018 Budget- $ 0.57

 Concessions % revenue is tiered based off of annually cumulative 
sales, restarting in April each year.

 -

 0.05

 0.10

 0.15

 0.20

 0.25

 0.30

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Revenue per Enplanement
Ground Transportation

2018 Budgeted

Rental car revenue per enplanement is down $0.64 from prior 
year while the first four months of the year had increased from 
prior year



Page 14

Operations Update



Page 15

Projects Update



Page 16

FAA Grant Offers

 Anticipate five Grants from FAA this summer
 Remote Transmitter/Receiver Grading Construction

 $3.6M

 Relocate 27 ¼ Road Construction

 $2.2M

 Rehabilitate Taxiway A Construction

 $1.7M

 Reimbursable Agreement – FAA Remote Transmitter/Receiver 
(Building)

 $680k

 2019 Engineering Services-Mead & Hunt

 $900k

*Subject to availability of Federal funds



Page 17

Consultant/Contractor Landscape

On-Call 
Engineer

On-Call 
General 

Contractor
GJT ProjectsOn-Call 

Planner
On-Call 

Architect

TBD 
procurement 

pending

Runway 
11/29

East Apron 
Replacement

3rd Floor 
Office Space

Gate 1 PLB

Engineer Engineer (on-call) Construction Design/Build Architect (on-call) Construction

Expires: 5/18/2022 Expires: 5/16/2022Expires: 2/3/2020

AIP 54



Page 18

General Contractor Procurement Schedule

LOI Responses Due    July 20 – 2 PM 

Issue RFP to Shortlisted Firms    July 25

RFP Responses Due to Owner    August 28, 2018

Scope Review/Work Sessions with Top Ranked Firms   September 07

Rank Firms/Reconcile Guaranteed Maximum Price   September 10-18

Presentation for Approval to Grand Junctional Regional Airport Authority September 18

Start Construction      As soon as Practical 



Page 19

Contractor Update



Page 20

Third Floor Administration Office

 Estimate $275,220  12 week construction time



Page 21

Third Floor Administration Office

 Alternative
 Conference Room

 $32,131

 Alternative
 Restrooms

 $159,501



Page 22

Third Floor Administration Office

 Consolidate Administrative Staff

 Design/build project with FCI and Blythe

 Design Development Estimates have been provided

 Base Project 2,419 square feet

 Restroom/Open offices 483 square feet

 Conference room 186 square feet

 Scheduled Completion Q4 2018



Page 23

Third Floor Administration Office

Design

•Project standards
•Floor plan
•Basis for project bids

Bidding
•Finalize bid documents
•Receive bids
•Define budget

JulyJune December

Project CompletionContract Approval
•Board approve contract
•Start construction

August



Page 24

Consent Agenda

 The Consent Agenda is intended to allow the Board to spend its time 
on the more complex items on the agenda. These items are perceived 
as non-controversial and can be approved by a single motion. The 
public or Board Members may ask that an item be removed from the 
Consent Agenda and be considered individually. 

 June 19, 2018 Meeting Minutes
 Banking Resolution
 Employee Handbook Update
 Colorado Open Records Act Policy and Procedures
 Executive Director outside Board membership
 Sky Adventures sublease renewal
 IT Service Contract Renewal – Sequent
 Passenger Loading Bridge Ball Screw Replacement
 Runway Rubber Removal, Airfield Painting, and Runway Friction Testing
 FAA Grant Offer Approval 
 FAA Grant Application Approval
 Invoice Replacement Runway 12/30 Project Design – Mead & Hunt
 Invoice Terminal Renovation Design – Mead & Hunt
 Invoice Taxiway Alpha Rehabilitation Design – Garver
 Scope of Work Garver Taxiway A Construction Administration
 Scope of Work Garver East Terminal Apron Construction Administration



Page 25

Action Item

 Recommendation of Award 27 ¼ Road Relocation



Page 26

Action Item

 Recommendation of Award Remote Transmitter/ 
Receiver Relocation



Page 27

Action Item

 Scope of Work Mead and Hunt 2019



Page 28

Task 203 FY 2018 Scope Development
Task 204 Construction Administration – RTR Grading Package – 120 days
Task 205 Construction Administration – 27 ¼ Road Relocation – 100 days
Task 206 Design - 2019 Airfield Improvements Package 1 – ($10M package)
Task 207 Design - 2019 Airfield Improvements Package 2  - ($10M package)
Task 208 FY 2019 Bidding 
Task 209 FAA and Tenant Coordination
Task 210 Supplemental Geotechnical Investigation
Task 211 Runway Program Phasing
Task 212 Runway Grant Administration / Financial Planning Services

FY 2018 Scope of Services Outline 



Page 29

Action Item

 Change Order East Terminal Apron



Page 30

Action Item  2018/2019 Employee Health Benefits

 Objectives

 Add additional medical plan design options

 Reduce premium obligation for employees with dependent 
coverage

 Move closer to benchmark with western slope and small employers

 Add Section 125 Flexible Spending Account Program



Page 31

Benchmarking - 2017 Employers Council Survey (formerly MSEC)

Plan Design Benchmarking Public Sector 1 to 49 employees Western Slope GJRAA Today GJRAA Proposed

100% Employer Paid Employee Paid Premium 15% 17% 14% Yes No

Average Employer/Employee Premium Split 
Single Employee 85%/15% 80%/20% 86%/14% 100%/0% 95%/5%

Average Employee Only Premium/Month $87 $96 $96 $0 $29 

Average Employer/Dependent Premium Split 76%/24% 55%/45% 78%/22% 70%/30% 60%/40%

Average Employee Paid Family Share $383 $562 $349 $935 $672 

Average HMO Plan Deductible $810 $850 $970 $1,000 $3,000 

Average HMO Out of Pocket $2,890 $3,610 $3,310 $6,500 $6,000 

Average HMO Co Pay $30 $30 $25 $15 $30 

Average Health Savings Account annual 
contribution single $740 $576 $542 N/A $1,188 

Average Health Savings Account annual 
contribution family $1,271 $1,089 $801 N/A $1,188 

Offer FSA Plan 85% 74% 77% No Yes



Page 32

Current vs. Proposed Plan Design



Page 33

Dental



Page 34

Vision



Page 35

Total Cost Comparison



Page 36

Appleton Clinic  -Direct Primary Care

 $99 per adult per month/children under 26 free

 Lab work performed at Appleton included in cost

 Unlimited primary/urgent care office visits

 100 generic drugs stocked in dispensary- no cost

 Hours 8:00 to 5:00 pm Monday – Friday

 After hours/weekends/doctors on call available-no cost



Page 37

Any other business which may come before the Board



Page 38

Adjournment


	Activity
	Finance
	minutes
	banking resolution
	handbook
	cora
	board membership
	sublease
	it
	loading bridge
	rubber removal
	grant offer
	application
	Rw invoice
	Terminal invoice
	Tw A Garver
	Tw A Garver CA contract
	East Apron Garver CA
	27 1/4 RD ROA
	RTR ROA
	2019 MH Scope
	AIP 54 CO 
	health benefits



